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The Master Plastics Group (“Group” or “Company”) was 

created through a series of “asset-for-share” transactions 

during the period 31 January 2017 to 28 February 2017 

whilst it still formed part of the Astrapak Limited Group of 

Companies (“Astrapak”) . It was unbundled to shareholders 

of Astrapak by way of a dividend in specie distribution in 

terms of section 46 (1) (a) (ii) of the Companies Act, Act 

No 71 of 2008, as amended, and section 46 of the Income 

Tax Act and listed on the Alternative Exchange of the JSE 

Limited (“JSE”) on 24 May 2017.

The Group has therefore only been in existence and trading 

in its current form since 1 February 2017 and this Integrated 

Annual Report (the “Report”) will accordingly only cover the 

financial performance of the Group over such relevant period.

In terms of the non-financial content of the Report, 

specifically the Governance and Accountability sections, 

the Report has been compiled and presented on the 

basis that the Board of Directors and Committees of 

Astrapak were also operating as the Board of Directors 

and Committees of the Group during the financial year 

ended 28 February 2017. The Group and its subsidiaries 

were dealt with within the frameworks and agendas of 

the various governing bodies of Astrapak until the date 

of unbundling and listing of 24 May 2017.

The Group has replicated all governance structures and 

adopted the ruling terms of references of each such 

relevant governing body. In addition, memberships, agendas, 

responsibilities, action plans and matters arising have all been 

assumed and will continue to be applied or executed upon 

by the relevant governing bodies and responsible parties. 

The Report has been prepared in terms of:

• International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”);

• Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended 

 (“Companies Act”);

• King Report on Corporate Governance (“King III”); and

• Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 

 (“JSE Listings Requirements”).

In the opinion of the Board of Directors of Master Plastics 

Limited (the “Board”), the information presented in this 

Report is the most relevant or “material” to the interests of 

our shareholders and key stakeholders.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the accuracy of 

the content of the Report. The Group’s external auditor, 

Deloitte & Touche, has provided assurance on the annual 

financial statements and expressed an unqualified 

audit opinion. The Group is not yet in a position to assure 

the non-financial aspects of the Report. This assurance 

by independent assessors will be considered when a 

standard is universally accepted and as our corporate 

journey into integrated reporting continues.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring 

the integrity of the Report and accordingly the Report 

has been prepared in line with best practices. The Board 

has approved the release and publication of the Report 

for the financial year ended 28 February 2017.

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements 

were prepared under the direction and supervision of the 

Chief Financial Officer, Salome Ratlhagane CA(SA). 

This Report may contain certain forward-looking 

information or statements regarding the Group and the 

environment within which it operates. Although such 

forward-looking statements may be reasonable, no 

assurance can be given that such expectations will prove 

to have been or will be correct. Accordingly, outcomes 

and results may differ materially from those set out in 

any forward looking statements as a result of amongst 

other factors, changes in economic and market conditions, 

success of business and operating initiatives, changes 

in the regulatory environment and other government 

action, fluctuation in commodity prices and exchange rates 

and general business and operational risk management.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

PHUMZILE LANGENI

Chairman

MANLEY DIEDLOFF

Chief Executive Officer



MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017   |    3

WHO WE ARE

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

VISION AND MISSION

The Group’s vision is to be recognised as a niche player 

operating in growth market sectors and delivering above 

average returns. Its mission is to create value by meeting 

and exceeding customer requirements in producing and 

supplying innovative and technologically advanced products 

and solutions on-time, in-full and to a specified standard.

CORPORATE GOALS

Key corporate goals are summarised as follows:

• To be a focused group of companies specialising 

 in the manufacturing and supply of specialised 

 and innovative products and services. 

• To increase market share in fast-growing 

 and defensive segments of the market. 

• To provide rapid, flexible and effective 

 customer service. 

• To expand locally and internationally in our 

 traditional core businesses.

• To boost growth through value-added acquisitions 

 and partnerships.

• To be the preferred employer within industry.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

To be successful in the flexible packaging industry, to 

deliver on corporate strategies and goals and to remain 

a market leader in its chosen market segments, there are 

essentially seven major factors that need to be considered, 

incorporated and managed in respect of the underlying 

business plan or strategy. These, in no particular order, are:

• Raw material inflation/selling price management;

• Material content and waste reduction;

• Effective capital and maintenance expenditure;

• Operational performance measurement;

• Customer profitability management;

• Innovation; and

• Supply Chain management.

Together with these pillars, there are certain common 

strategies to be executed upon at operational and 

corporate level:

• Continue to invest in industry leading technologies;

• Drive strategic partnerships with suppliers and 

 customers to determine and deliver on needs 

 and performance requirements of products;

• Global technology sharing arrangements;

• Attendance and participation of international 

 exhibitions and shows; and

• Various asset utilisation strategies specific to 

 installed capacity and technologies.

In terms of the Group’s operational agenda, the 

following key aspects are noted and integrated into 

operational strategies:

• An emphasis on high-value and innovative products.

• Growth through acquisitions, joint ventures and 

 strategic partnerships with stakeholders.

• Growth in market share, both domestically and 

 abroad, in high-growth market segments.

• Cost savings, productivity and waste improvements.

• Differentiation from commodity film products through 

 innovation and technology.

• New product development, particularly in food, fresh 

 produce and groceries segments.
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GROUP STRUCTURE

OUR OPERATIONS

An overview of the three operations that constitutes the 

Group is set out below:

PENINSULA PACKAGING

Peninsula Packaging is a well-established and 

capitalised (technology and capacity) flexible business 

operating from Bellville, Cape Town, South Africa.

Peninsula Packaging is emerging from a strategic 

repositioning as a leaner and more focussed operation, 

the benefits of which are already tangible in terms 

of current trading results and forecasts. Peninsula 

Packaging enjoys long-term relationships with premium 

retailers, both local and overseas, who represent the 

majority of its customer base. The production facility and 

management are well-experienced in the manufacture 

and supply of plain and printed flexible products for 

a variety of end markets, some of which are produced 

exclusively under license by Peninsula Packaging in 

South Africa. Peninsula Packaging operates in selected 

and niche market sectors focussing mainly in the 

geographical region of South Africa within which it is 

located. British Retail Consortium (“BRC”) certification and 

adherence to good manufacturing practices enables the 

company to produce flexible films and products compliant 

to stringent customer and food packaging standards.

ESTABLISHED IN 

1994
SPECIALISES IN THE 

MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF

extruded films and a wide variety of bags such 

as wicket, side seal, bottom seal and spine seal 

bags - both plain and printed - for use in the food 

and grocery, fruit and fresh produce, bread, milk 

and industrial markets. A growing market sector 

for the business has been the supply of FFS 

(form, fill and seal) on reel to its customer base.

130
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES 

with casual employees utilised 

during peak season only

GLOBAL ACCREDITATIONS

BRC accredited and Supplier Ethical Data 

Exchange (“Sedex”) approved

Benefits from an experienced management, 

production and sales team with key technical skills

BRIEF OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

MASTER PLASTICS LIMITED
(INCORPORATING TRADING DIVISIONS OF PENINSULA PACKAGING, 

PLUSNET/GEOTEX & BUSSING ROAD AND LEA GLEN PROPERTIES)

MICAWBER 451
(PTY) LIMITED

(DORMANT ENTITY)

MICAWBER 430
(PTY) LIMITED

(DORMANT ENTITY)

BARRIER FILMS 
CONVERTERS
(PTY) LIMITED

100% 100%100%
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BARRIER FILM CONVERTERS

Barrier Film Converters is a well-established and capitalised 

(technology and capacity) flexible business operating 

from Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Predominantly 

an extrusion and cast expert, the company operates in 

selected and niche market sectors under the guidance 

of an experienced management team. Global Food 

Safety Management certification and adherence to 

good manufacturing practices enables the company to 

produce multi-layer flexible films and products compliant 

to stringent customer and food packaging standards.

PLUSNET/GEOTEX

Plusnet/Geotex is a well-positioned and 

well-capitalised (technology and capacity) 

niche business, operating in high-growth 

market sectors and under the guidance 

of an experienced management team. 

The business is located in Randfontein, 

Gauteng, South Africa.

BRIEF OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS BRIEF OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

ESTABLISHED IN 

2002 
As a start-up project

SPECIALISES IN THE 

MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF

(A) Barrier type flexible packaging (plain and printed) 

including lamination films (barrier and non-barrier);

(B) Multi-layer barrier film for food grade applications 

as well as plain and printed film for industrial use;

(C) Flexible thermo-formable barrier base 

and lidding (plain and printed);

 (D) Block bottom valve bags for the

 fertiliser and chemical industries;

(E) Vacuum bags and vacuum tubing;

(F) Cheese maturation bags; and

(G) Industrial film such as industrial skin packaging.

46
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

GLOBAL ACCREDITATIONS

ISO 22000/PAS 223/FDA accreditation for 

supply of United States Food and Drug Administration 

(“FDA”) approved packaging materials

Benefits from an experienced management, 

production and sales team with key technical skills

ESTABLISHED IN 

1995 
SPECIALISES IN THE 

MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF

(A) agricultural nets for purposes 

of undercover farming;

(B) commercial nets to be used 

in various applications; and

(C) geotextile fibres for re-enforcement 

of concrete structures and rope 

as an outlet for scrap from 

production processes.

Further incorporates a projects division, 

which deals with the design, 

construction and supply of shade houses 

and under-cover farming structures 

for the agricultural industry.

303
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

Benefits from an experienced management, 

production and sales team with key technical skills
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s relationships with stakeholders is critical to its ability to create value and by establishing and maintaining 

constructive relationships, the Group enhances its sustainability and remains aware of the opportunities and risks that 

exists within the industry, platform and community it operates in.

GROUP STAKEHOLDERS NATURE OF ENGAGEMENT WHAT MATTERS

SHAREHOLDERS
current and future

Investor meetings and presentations

Annual General Meeting

SENS

Integrated Annual Report

Press releases

Business strategy and plans

Group performance and sustainability

Financial measures

Compliance and regulatory requirements

Remuneration practices

CUSTOMERS
current and future

Customer meetings

Site visits

Workshops

Communications: Advertising, 
marketing and brochures

Product Development forums

Innovation

Sustainability and growth

Product and service offerings

Cost drivers and mitigation

EMPLOYEES, TRADE UNIONS 
AND ASSOCIATIONS

Contracts

Regular meetings at various levels

Training and skills 
development programmes

Performance appraisals

Workplace climate surveys

Employment Equity forums

Roadshows

Code of conduct, values and ethics

Health and Safety

Compliance and risk

Transformation

Training and advancement

Business performance and plans

Remuneration

SUPPLIERS AND 
SERVICE PROVIDERS

Supplier meetings

Site visits

Workshops

Sustainability of supply

Innovation

Product services and development

Cost and payment structures

GOVERNMENT 
AND REGULATORS

Legislature

Submission of Returns

Site visits

Compliance

MEDIA Media briefings

Press releases

Investor relations matters

Advertising

FINANCIERS Agreed reporting

Regular meetings

Integrated Annual Report

Business plan and strategies

Solvency and liquidity

Capital management

Risk management

Adherence to covenants 
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GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The listing of Master Plastics on 24 May 2017, following its 

unbundling from the Astrapak Limited Group, heralds a 

new and exciting era for the Group. 

MARKET OVERVIEW

The Company, which commenced trading as 

a standalone group amid a tough economic 

background, delivered results in line with expectations 

for the reporting period. Whilst the Company reported 

a small loss of R0.6 million for the short period of 

trading during the financial year, the Board and 

management are confident that its strategy and 

command in the market place will yield positive results. 

The current economic and trading environment, whilst 

still challenging, is showing some positive sprouts, with 

a better economic environment expected in the 2018 

year. The improvement in the inflation numbers and 

outlook; the lowering of interest rates, albeit by a small 

margin, are signs that should add some support to 

dampened consumer interest.

GOVERNANCE

The inaugural Board is in place, with no changes made 

since the listing. I congratulate Mr. Manley Diedloff and 

Ms Salome Ratlhagane for their appointments in their 

new roles as the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief 

Financial Officer (“CFO”) respectively; we wish them well 

on this new path. I also thank the Board, our advisors and 

the executive team for the hard work and perseverance 

in the run up to the listing of Master Plastics.

PHUMZILE LANGENI

Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S REPORT

WE HAVE ARRIVED

The unbundling and listing of the Master Plastics Group 

represents an appropriate outcome for the efforts of all 

employees involved in the business. Despite coming off 

a difficult few trading periods towards the end of 2015 

and having subsequently been classified as “assets 

held-for-sale” by Astrapak, the desire to prove their worth 

and the calibre of assets continued to drive the team 

to reach new heights and in the 2016 and 2017 financial 

years we have seen all three of the underlying operations 

returning to profitability. The business strategies and 

operational plans formulated to achieve this continues 

to drive a steady and sustainable improvement in 

performance. The mantle of “discontinued operations” 

has been lifted and a sense of purpose and belonging is 

evident, despite the Group having only been operating 

as a stand-alone entity since 24 May 2017. My utmost 

respect and gratitude to all involved in assisting the 

Group in achieving this milestone. To the Board, who has 

been very supportive of our efforts throughout, we say a 

big thank you. It is a great honour for me and the team to 

have been given this opportunity.

STATUS OF THE GROUP 

AND THE WAY FORWARD

The Group will benefit significantly from the various 

systems, controls and structures established and 

entrenched during the period it was part of the greater 

Astrapak Group and much of these have simply been 

transferred across, resulting in minimal interruption to the 

business. The business will however need some time to 

establish its independence and to create or re-establish 

its own culture and its own way of doing things and 

getting things done. The flexible packaging industry is 

different from other segments of the packaging industry, 

which all have their own set of characteristics. This is 

most evident in the end markets and the nature of and 

specific requirements of the customer base and markets. 

Flexibility, innovation and fast decision-making are highly 

regarded and can be the difference between a revenue 

allocation or not. This all requires a more entrepreneurial 

outlook across all levels of the business and a more 

decentralised and empowered business methodology. It 

does however need to be balanced and managed within 

an acceptable framework to ensure that it is achieved at 

minimal risk to the business or its goals. This approach 

has been successfully adopted by the business and these 

have been significant contributory factors to the success 

achieved. We do not anticipate any significant difficulties 

to be experienced during this re-establishment phase 

and we are excited by the prospect of repositioning, 

rebranding and relaunching our Group.

The business finds itself in a good space having 

gone through a number of processes to identify and 

implement strategies aimed at maximising various 

outcomes. These were very different for each of the three 

operations as each had a different set of circumstances 

and were in different stages of their cycle at the time we 

commenced our review to plot a course for the future. 

“Back to basics” was however a very common theme as 

the businesses had, through the historical adoption of 

an inappropriate capacity utilisation strategy, moved 

away from what represented their core strengths and 

markets. It was essential for us to remind ourselves of 

what our core competencies were, what the capabilities 

of our technology and skill sets were best suited for 

and how we could again align these with the market 

requirements for flexibility, innovation and fast decision-

making. Management changes were essential as specific 

skill sets were required to deliver on strategic goals and 

for the implementation phase. The teams are however 

now well-established and share a common vision which 

is well-defined, documented and communicated. We are 

confident that a platform has been created from which 

we can advance.

We will look to capital investment to fully utilise the 

opportunities available to us and to grow our share of 

spend in our existing customer base. The business is by 

no means under-capitalised, its technology is current and 

market appropriate, and there is some excess capacity 

available in certain areas, but growth will be limited 

unless we make capital investments to move us forward. 

We will however be both prudent and scientific in our 

approach and ensure that no investments are made unless 

capacity is maximised across all fronts and that there 

is a very sound investment case underpinned by strong 
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fundamentals. Acquisitive growth will be a further area 

of focus, but we would look to retain and expand our 

niche status through such, enhance our product offerings 

and ability to innovate and not look at acquisitions as 

a way to simply drive size. Post-acquisition integration 

and realising of synergies will be key components of any 

acquisition process. There are a number of opportunities 

available in the market, but our selection and return criteria 

will result in only businesses that support our strategic 

objectives being considered and ultimately acquired.

THE INDUSTRY AND CHALLENGES

The industry and manufacturing in general faces its 

own set of challenges and the business is not exempt 

from these. A depressed economy, a volatile political 

climate, increased union activity and labour demands 

and continued disinvestment out of the economy does 

not bode well for the currency or future growth prospects. 

Consumers have remained under pressure due to the 

high cost of living and end markets have accordingly not 

grown and have duly become more competitive given 

that everybody is competing for a share of a smaller pie. 

A stable to lower oil price has contributed greatly to an 

offset or softening of the impact of all these factors and 

has allowed the industry to at least maintain its position. 

The first interest rate cut in a while will hopefully act as a 

catalyst for increased spending. There are a number of 

significant legislative changes underway that need to be 

monitored and of which the impact on the Group needs 

to be considered on a continued basis. The introduction 

of carbon tax and sugar tax, legislation in respect of air 

emissions and labour broker practices are but a few. 

The Group continues to monitor these aspects and is 

engaging with industry experts and via industry bodies 

to ensure that it fully understands the potential impact 

and introduces the required mitigating strategies or 

business initiatives necessary with respect thereto. 

The competitive landscape is changing dramatically. 

International players are establishing themselves in the 

South African market – as is evidenced by the disposal 

of Astrapak to RPC plc, Boxmore to Alpla, Nampak 

Flexibles to Amcor and Afripack to Constantia Flexibles 

– and a number of local players are now also looking 

to position and strengthen themselves in anticipation 

of a continuance hereof. Accordingly, the mergers and 

acquisitions space is getting extremely busy and many 

operations have “for sale” signs hanging at the front door. 

The prospect of a converter seeing a potential sale and the 

depressed economy does however result in a very difficult 

trading market as revenue and the filling of capacity to 

maximise on a desired outcome becomes the only key 

driver and sustainability of pricing is discarded in the short-

term to the expense of the industry and those converters 

remaining. But this is the reality of the markets we operate 

in at this time and just another factor to be considered in 

the setting of goals and targets on our way to create a 

sustainable business delivering acceptable levels of returns.

THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW

Due to the timing of its establishment and in accordance 

with IFRS, the Group has only reported the trading results 

of the respective entities for the periods that they were 

part of the Group and accordingly only recognised the 

trading results of Barrier Film Converters Proprietary 

Limited, Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited and 

Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited for one month, whilst 

the trading results of Peninsula Packaging and Plusnet/

Geotex, both divisions of Master Plastics Limited and 

material components of the Group and only acquired on 

28 February 2017, are not recognised in the trading results 

reported. All entities have however been accounted for in the 

Statement of Financial Position as at 28 February 2017. As the 

Group was only established in the 2017 financial year, no 

comparatives are to be presented in accordance with IFRS.

The Group has, as a result of the above application of IFRS, 

reported a basic loss and headline loss of R0.6 million or 

13.9 cents per share given a weighted average number of 

shares of 4.187 million (compared to an issued share capital 

of 135 131 250) for the reporting period. These amounts 

are not representative of the actual performance of the 

underlying Master Plastics businesses over the financial 

year and shareholders should look to the aggregated 

profit estimate in the Pre-listing Statement dated 

5 May 2017 issued to shareholders (“the Pre-listing 

Statement”) and below earnings metrics for an accurate 

reflection of the actual financial performance of the 

businesses over the 12-month period ended 28 February 2017,

which is representative of trading results which the Group 

would expect to report when it will be able to consolidate 

operational results for the full period being reported on.
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In the annexures to the Pre-listing Statement, combined 

historical financial information, pro-forma financial 

information, a profit estimate to 28 February 2017, an 

aggregated profit estimate to 28 February 2017 and a 

profit forecast to 28 February 2018 were presented, and 

the basis of preparation and assumptions applicable to 

each of these were detailed.

Both the profit estimate and aggregated profit estimate, 

as presented in Annexure 5 of the Pre-listing Statement, were 

achieved by the Group for the financial period ended 

28 February 2017 when applying the same basis of 

preparation and assumptions as detailed in the relevant 

annexures. An aggregated earnings per share (“EPS”) 

of 36.0 cents and an aggregated headline earnings per 

share (“HEPS”) of 25.6 cents (compared to the aggregated 

EPS and HEPS of 36.0 cents and 24.0 cents respectively, per 

the aggregated profit estimate set out in Annexure 5 of the 

Pre-listing Statement) would accordingly have been reported 

for the financial year ended 28 February 2017 had the results of 

all the operations within the Group been accounted for 

during the full 12-month period being reported on.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to focus on the execution of its 

stated business strategy and will invest into efficiency 

opportunities and in support of organic growth being 

experienced by the existing customer base.

As indicated, trading conditions remain challenging in an 

economy with a rather depressed outlook, but the Group 

is confident that the exposure to more defensive market 

segments and a continued focus on operational performance 

will support and underwrite its strategic efforts.

APPRECIATION

I again extend my thanks and gratitude to all our 

employees, advisors and the Board for its continued 

contribution and support. We welcome all the new 

service providers to the Group and to our very loyal 

customer base we say a big thank you for continuing 

to entrust us with your business and we look forward to 

growing with you into the future. To those new customers, 

we welcome you as partners and hope that we will meet 

and exceed all your expectations.

We are entering a very exciting time for all involved with 

the Group and we are indeed proud to be associated 

with all of you and to embark on this journey with you.

MANLEY DIEDLOFF

Chief Executive Officer
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OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

P Langeni (Chairman)

P Botha

C McDougall

T Mokgatlha

G Steffens

C McDougall (Chairman)

P Langeni

T Mokgatlha

T Mokgatlha (Chairman - Audit)

G Steffens (Chairman - Risk)

C McDougall

P Botha (Chairman - Remunerations)

P Langeni (Chairman - Nominations)

G Steffens

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

M Diedloff (CEO)

S Ratlhagane (CFO & Company Secretary)

MASTER PLASTICS BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEES

SOCIAL & ETHICS
COMMITTEES

REMUNERATION & NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEES

OUR BOARD

All the Directors to the Board, with the exception of Manley 

Diedloff, were appointed to the Board on 13 April 2017. Manley 

Diedloff was appointed to the Board on 28 November 2016.

Salome Ratlhagane will, in addition to her role as 

Chief Financial Officer, also hold the position of 

Company Secretary. This will be enabled by the Group 

initially consisting of only two active statutory entities 

(representing only three operating sites), each with 

a strong financial management compliment. The 

Group has satisfied itself that she will have both the 

necessary support, capacity and skills required to fulfil 

both roles for the foreseeable future. This arrangement 

will be reviewed in time as necessary.

THE BOARD COMPRISES AS FOLLOWS:

Phumzile Langeni is currently the Executive Chairman 

of Afropulse Group. She previously served as Chairman 

of Astrapak Limited and economic adviser to the 

Honourable BP Sonjica, the Minister of Minerals and 

Energy. Prior to that, Ms Langeni was Vice-President of 

relations and an Executive Director of Anooraq Resources. 

A stockbroker by profession, Ms Langeni has served as 

an Executive Director of Barnard Jacobs Mellet (BJM) 

Securities, Mazwai Securities and Real Africa Durolink 

(RAD) Securities. Ms Langeni also serves as independent 

Non-Executive Director of Massmart Holdings Limited, 

Mineworker’s Investment Company, Primedia Proprietary 

Limited, Redefine Properties Limited and Metrofile 

Holdings Limited.

PHUMZILE LANGENI (43)

QUALIFICATIONS

BCom (Accounting) (Hons) 
(Business Management)
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Independent Non-Executive Chairman
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Manley Diedloff previously served as Group Managing 

Director and Chief Financial Officer of Astrapak Limited. 

He completed his articles with Fisher Hoffman & Stride 

in December 1994. He was then employed as a financial 

manager with Bupa Health Services in the United 

Kingdom before joining HSBC Bank plc as internal audit 

manager. Upon his return to South Africa, he joined 

Grinaker Construction as an accountant and after three 

years moved to Astrapak as Group Accountant.

Paul Botha is Chief Executive Officer and co-founder of 

Metier Private Equity Proprietary Limited (“Metier”) and 

a principal of the Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund. He 

is an attorney and notary public having been in private 

practice since 1986. In 1998, he established an advisory 

division for Brait and was its Chief Executive Officer until 

2003. Previously, he was a senior commercial law partner in 

the Johannesburg practice of Fasken Martineau (previously 

named Bell Dewar & Hall), where he specialised in mergers 

and acquisitions and cross-border work across a number 

of industries. Paul has an outstanding record in executing 

corporate transactions of which the majority have involved 

private equity transactions and the entrepreneurial 

multidisciplinary assignments which Metier targets.

Salome Ratlhagane previously served as Group Financial 

Manager and Company Secretary of Astrapak. She completed 

her articles with Deloitte (Johannesburg) and qualified as 

a Chartered Accountant in 2011. After completing her articles, 

she went on a secondment to Stamford, Connecticut, USA 

where she was exposed to various financial services clients. 

On her return to South Africa, she took up an accountant 

position at MultiChoice Africa before joining Astrapak in 

March 2013 as an assistant Group Financial Manager. 

In August 2014, she was promoted to Group Financial 

Manager of Astrapak. She was further appointed as 

Astrapak’s Company Secretary on 18 December 2015.

Thabo Mokgatlha previously served as an independent 

Non-Executive Director on the Astrapak Board. He was 

also previously Head of Treasury and Business of the 

Royal Bafokeng Nation, Financial Director of Royal 

Bafokeng Resources Management Services Proprietary 

Limited and a Non-Executive Director of Royal Bafokeng 

Holdings Proprietary Limited. He joined the Implats 

board in February 2003 as a nominee of the Royal 

Bafokeng Nation. He is an independent Non-Executive 

Director and member of the audit committees of Hyprop 

Investments Limited, York Timbers Limited, 4AX Limited 

and Nutritional Holdings Limited.

MANLEY DIEDLOFF (47)

PAUL BOTHA (54)

SALOME RATLHAGANE (32)

THABO MOKGATLHA (42)

QUALIFICATIONS

BCom (Accounting)
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

QUALIFICATIONS

BA LLB, Dip Company Law, Dip Tax
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Non-Executive Director

QUALIFICATIONS

BCom (Accounting) (Hons), CA(SA)
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) 
and Company Secretary

QUALIFICATIONS

Hons BCompt (CTA), CA(SA)
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Independent 
Non-Executive Director
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Günter Steffens previously served as an independent 

Non-Executive Director on the Astrapak Board. After taking 

banking exams in Germany, he worked for banks in Canada, 

Switzerland and France. Dresdner Bank AG transferred him 

to London to establish the bank’s office there. As General 

Manager he ran Dresdner Bank in London for 25 years 

and subsequently managed their business as Geographic 

Head for South and southern Africa in Johannesburg. He 

retired in 2002 and is now a Non-Executive Director on 

numerous listed and unlisted companies in South Africa, 

Germany and the United Kingdom.

Craig McDougall previously served as an independent 

Non-Executive Director on the Astrapak Board. He 

gained extensive operational management experience 

at SABMiller, where he served for 29 years in numerous 

management and Executive roles including Managing 

Director of operating companies – including start-up 

operations in Africa and Europe and Operations Director 

for Africa and Asia. He also served on many boards of 

SABMiller companies and associate companies as an 

Executive Director, and retired from SABMiller in 2009. 

He is currently a management consultant working in 

a variety of capacities including coaching/mentoring; 

formulating and implementing business plans/strategies 

and interim management.

GÜNTER STEFFENS (79) CRAIG MCDOUGALL (64)

QUALIFICATIONS

OBE
NATIONALITY

German
FUNCTION

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

QUALIFICATIONS

BA, HDPM
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Independent 
Non-Executive Director
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THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES

The Governance and Accountability sections of this Report have 

been compiled and presented on the basis that the Board of 

Directors and Committees of Astrapak were also operating 

as the Board of Directors and Committees of the Group 

during the financial year ended 28 February 2017. The Group 

and its subsidiaries were dealt with within the frameworks and 

agendas of the various governing bodies of Astrapak until 

the date of unbundling and listing on 24 May 2017.

The Group has replicated all governance structures and 

adopted the ruling terms of references of each such 

relevant governing body. In addition, memberships, agendas, 

responsibilities, action plans and matters arising have all been 

assumed and will continue to be applied or executed upon 

by the relevant governing bodies and responsible parties. 

The Group is headed by an effective unitary Board that 

both leads and controls the Group. The Board remains 

satisfied that an appropriate balance of power and authority 

is maintained, such that no individual possesses sole decision-

making authority, and that no individual or block of individuals 

dominates the Board’s deliberations or its decision making. 

In this way, the interests of all stakeholders are protected.

The Board comprises of seven Directors of whom five 

are Non-Executive Directors. One of the Non-Executive 

Directors is not independent. The King III guidelines were 

applied in testing the independence and categories 

most applicable to each Director.

Non-Executive Directors have no fixed term of office. 

Master Plastics’ Memorandum of Incorporation provides 

for the rotation and re-election of Directors, in that one-

third of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors retire at 

every Annual General Meeting. Should they be willing to 

continue to serve on the Board, the Directors are then 

re-elected through an ordinary resolution.

The two Executive Directors (CEO and CFO) have both 

entered into employment contracts with the Group, with 

a three-month or shorter notice period from either party. 

Neither of the Executive Directors has an employment 

contract with the Group exceeding three years.

The Board can be described as a well-balanced and ethical 

Board. The Non-Executive Directors bring balance and 

valuable insights to all Board deliberations. All Directors 

understand their fiduciary duties and are aware of their 

duty to act in the best interest of the Company at all times.

The Board is responsible for revising the Group’s strategic 

direction, monitoring performance against plans and budgets, 

assessing the levels of compliance with relevant legislation, 

considering governance structures, and reviewing competitor 

activity and best practice both locally and internationally.

The Board and its committees consist of Directors 

with the appropriate balance of skills, experience and 

knowledge to enable them to discharge their duties and 

responsibilities – this has placed the Group in a fortunate 

position. Furthermore, the Board regularly receives sound 

advice on a timely basis that enables it to remain ahead 

of the evolution of corporate governance practices.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the Chairman, an independent Non-Executive 

Director, is separate from that of the CEO. Their roles and 

functions are formalised and each has a specific and 

defined set of duties in order to prevent the overlap of 

obligations and responsibilities and to eliminate any 

possible conflict of function.

The CEO takes full responsibility and is accountable for 

the operations of the Group and provides leadership to 

the operational teams. He is also accountable for the 

effectiveness of governance practices. The Chairman 

leads the Board, represents the Board to shareholders, 

builds and maintains shareholders’ trust and confidence, 

and facilitates constructive relations between Executive 

and Non-Executive Directors. As is the case for all Non-

Executive Directors, the Chairman is required to retire and 

stand for re-election at least once every three years.

COMPOSITION AND STRUCTURE

Mr M Diedloff was appointed as Executive Director – CEO 

on 28 November 2016.

The following Directors were appointed to the Board 

on 13 April 2017:

• Ms P Langeni as Independent Non-Executive Chairman;

• Ms S Ratlhagane as Executive Director - CFO 

 and Company Secretary;
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• Mr T Mokgatlha as Independent Non-Executive Director;

• Mr G Steffens as Independent Non-Executive Director;

• Mr C McDougall as Independent Non-Executive 

 Director; and

• Mr P Botha as Non-Executive Director.

GENDER DIVERSITY POLICY

The Group has a policy on and supports the objectives of 

gender diversity at a Board level and recognises that a board 

that reflects the demographics of the country more accurately 

in this area has a critical role to play in transformation. 

The Board currently has two female Directors, the 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman and the CFO.

INDEPENDENCE OF BOARD MEMBERS

As indicated above, the King III guidelines were applied 

in testing the independence and categories most 

applicable to each Director. Based on this assessment, 

the Board found Phumzile Langeni, Günter Steffens, Craig 

McDougall and Thabo Mokgatlha to be independent 

Non-Executive Directors, while Paul Botha is regarded as 

a non-independent Non-Executive Director.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE BOARD 

Apart from the Group’s Annual General Meeting, and 

the various associated practices as determined by the 

Companies Act and other relevant legislation, a number 

of mechanisms exist for communication between the 

Group’s stakeholders and the Board. One of the most 

effective of these mechanisms has proven to be the 

implementation of a tip-off line managed by Tip-Offs 

Anonymous. Any information received via the tip-off line 

is reported to the Audit and Risk Committees, and must 

be resolved to the committee’s satisfaction. During the 

period under review, no tip-offs were received.

PERSONAL FINANCIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

The Group maintains a full list of the personal interests of 

Directors. They are afforded the opportunity to update their 

declarations at each quarterly Board meeting and at any 

time that a change in their personal circumstances may occur.

During the reporting period, the Group considered any 

potential conflicts of interest caused by any commercial 

relationships or outside interests of its Non-Executive 

Directors, and found no reason to believe that these 

would influence the fiduciary responsibilities, or time and 

attention, which Non-Executive Directors need to devote 

to the Group and its affairs.

During the year, none of the Directors had a significant 

interest in any contract or arrangement entered into by 

the Company or its subsidiaries.

SUCCESSION PLANNING AND INDUCTION

The Company has a policy detailing the procedures for 

appointments to the Board and a formal and transparent 

process is followed when appointments to the Board are 

made. Appointments are considered by the Board as a whole, 

assisted by the Nominations and Remuneration Committee.

The Group’s induction programme is aimed at introducing 

new Directors to key aspects of the business and providing 

them with insights as to their rights and obligations. As 

a rule, new Directors are introduced to the various key 

business operations, the overall strategy, their rights and 

obligations from a King III, JSE and legal perspective, and 

their fiduciary duties as Directors. Specific development 

needs are also addressed, where reviewed/identified.

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

As mentioned above, one-third of the Directors are 

subject to retirement (and re-election) at each Annual 

General Meeting. In addition, King III requires that 

one-third of the Non-Executive Directors should rotate 

annually. The following Directors are up for rotation 

as Directors and have made themselves available for 

re-election as per the Notice of Annual General Meeting 

included in the Report:

• G Steffens – Independent Non-Executive Director

• C McDougall – Independent Non-Executive Director

• T Mokgatlha – Independent Non-Executive Director

BOARD AND COMMITTEE 

PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

King III recommends that an evaluation of the Board 

and committees be conducted annually. As this is a 

new entity, no evaluation has been done past the 
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unbundling on 24 May 2017. This evaluation was however 

conducted during the reporting period within Astrapak 

and the results were considered by the Board of 

Astrapak. All Directors were found to have executed their 

responsibilities in keeping with the expectations of the 

Company and the recommendations of King III.

MEETINGS, AGENDAS 

AND INFORMATION NEEDS

All Directors possess the requisite knowledge and 

experience to execute their responsibilities, and all 

participate actively in the proceedings at Board 

meetings. Non-Executive Directors contribute an 

impartial view on matters considered by the Board and 

enjoy significant influence on deliberations at meetings.

The Board aims to meet at least four times per year and 

more frequently if circumstances dictate. Meetings are 

conducted in accordance with formal and structured 

agendas. The Chairman sets the agenda for each meeting 

in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer and the 

Company Secretary, and ensures that all substantive matters 

requiring the Board’s attention are included on the agenda.

All Directors are afforded the opportunity to add matters 

to the agenda and the Non-Executive Directors ensure 

that the Chairman promotes proper deliberation 

of all key strategic issues at meetings, including the 

governance of IT risk and sustainability matters.

Board papers are circulated to the Directors well in 

advance of meetings, so as to allow sufficient time 

for Directors to properly scrutinise the content thereof 

and formulate questions. Directors are supplied with 

comprehensive and accurate information that enables 

them to effectively discharge their responsibilities.

Agendas and the content of Board and committee 

papers are regularly reviewed for effectiveness and 

relevance, as are the information requirements of the 

Board and its committees. All Directors have unrestricted 

access to relevant Group information.

Non-Executive Directors have access to all members of 

management should they require. Notwithstanding these 

arrangements, there remains a very clear division between 

the responsibilities of the Board and management.

Non-Executive Directors are also mandated to meet 

separately from Executive Directors as and when required 

to discuss matters of concern.

In terms of the Board Charter and the terms of reference of 

each Board committee, all Directors and committee members 

are entitled, at the Group’s expense, and by following a proper 

prescribed procedure, to seek independent professional advice to 

assist them in executing their duties in a prudent manner. No 

Director requested to seek such advice during the year.

The Board has identified Master Plastics’ key stakeholders and 

encourages shareholders to attend annual general meetings.

BOARD COMMITTEES

While the Board remains accountable and responsible 

for the performance and affairs of the Group, the 

Board has the additional assistance of five permanent 

subcommittees which have been appointed to assist the 

Board in discharging its duties and obligations, namely 

the Audit Committee, Risk Committee, Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee, Social and Ethics Committee 

and Capex Committee. All the committees have defined 

terms of reference in place. In addition to these five 

committees, ad hoc subcommittees are created from 

time to time to assist with specific subject matters.

The Board has the power at any time to remove a 

Director from the Board in accordance with the provisions 

of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the 

Companies Act and, in the instance of Non-Executive 

Directors, their letters of appointment.

A Director’s membership on the subcommittee will 

automatically and immediately terminate when his or 

her directorship is terminated.

Each committee has a clear mandate and operates in 

accordance with its own specific written terms of reference, 

as adopted by the relevant committee and approved 

by the Board. Committee meetings are conducted in 

accordance with formal and structured agendas, ensuring 

that pertinent matters receive the required attention. 

Agendas and the content of committee papers are 

regularly reviewed for effectiveness and relevance and 

members have the opportunity at each meeting to add 

matters to the agenda.
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The terms of reference provide that Board committees may seek independent outside professional advice when deemed 

necessary at the cost of the Company subject to a proper process being followed. The minutes of subcommittee meetings 

are included in the Board papers and the content of the meetings summarised by the chairman of each subcommittee in 

a report at each Board meeting.

The charters of the Board and committees are reviewed annually.

Table 1 below records the number of meetings held and the attendance of such meetings by various committee members. 

These meetings all occurred during the period that the Group was still managed as part of the Astrapak Limited Group, 

but content of the meetings also covered the relevant areas applicable to the Group.

MEMBER BOARD AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

RISK 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL & ETHICS 
COMMITTEE

CAPEX 
COMMITTEE

  A B A B A B A B A B A B

P Langeni 4 3         3 3 2 2    

T Mokgatlha 4 4 3 3 3 3            

G Steffens 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3        

C McDougall 4 4 3 3 3 3     2 2 3 3

P Botha 4 4         3 3        

M Diedloff 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3

S Ratlhagane 4 3 3 3 3 3     2 2    

Column A indicates the number of meetings held during the period the Director was a member of the Board and/or subcommittee. 
Column B indicates the number of meetings attended during the period the Director was a member of the Board and/or subcommittee.

Table 2 below records the constitution of the subcommittees of the Board

SUBCOMMITTEE STATUS OF CHAIRMAN

NUMBER OF 
INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS ON 

COMMITTEE

NUMBER OF 
INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS ON 

COMMITTEE

NUMBER OF 
INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS ON 

COMMITTEE

Audit Committee Independent Non-Executive 3 - -

Risk Committee Independent Non-Executive 3 - -

Nominations Committee Independent Non-Executive 2 1 -

Remuneration Committee Non-Independent Non-Executive 2 1 -

Social and Ethics Committee Independent Non-Executive 2 - 1

Capex Committee Independent Non-Executive 1 1 -
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEES

The Audit and Risk Committees form an integral 

component of the Group’s overall compliance and risk 

management process. They report internally to the 

Board on their statutory duties as well as other duties 

assigned to them by the Board. In addition, the Audit 

Committee reports to shareholders on the extent to 

which they carried out their statutory oversight duties in 

respect of the external auditors, the appropriateness of 

the financial statements, the accounting practices as well 

as the effectiveness of internal financial controls and the 

integrity of the integrated annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Thabo Mokgatlha, an independent Non-Executive 

Director, is the chairman of the Audit Committee. Craig 

McDougall and Günter Steffens are both independent 

Non-Executive Directors.

The Executive Directors, a delegation from the 

independent external auditors, internal auditors, risk 

managers and subject matter experts all attend by 

invitation, as required.

The committee members possess the requisite 

experience in the fields of finance, risk, audit, compliance, 

banking and corporate governance, and consequently 

have the necessary qualifications, skills and experience 

to fulfil their obligations. Notwithstanding their extensive 

knowledge and skills, whenever necessary, the committee 

obtains advice from specialists in other fields of expertise 

to assist it in carrying out its duties.

The committee reports to the Board on the extent to 

which it has executed its responsibilities as defined by 

King III, the Companies Act, the committee’s terms of 

reference and its annual plan. More details on the duties 

performed by the Audit Committee are provided in the 

annual financial statements.

The committee meets on a quarterly basis. All Non-

Executive Directors have an open invitation to attend the 

committee’s proceedings. At least once every quarter, 

the committee chairman meets with the internal and 

external auditors without the presence of executive 

management representatives. In the month preceding 

the publication of the Group’s year-end financial results, 

the committee chairman also meets with the external 

auditors, to discuss the financial statements and the 

findings from their audit.

Further details regarding the activities of the Audit Committee 

are provided on page 43 of the annual financial statements.

No material weakness in financial controls was identified 

which results in actual financial loss or fraud. The Audit 

Committee has assessed the expertise of both the CFO 

and the finance department and is satisfied that both 

have appropriate expertise, skills and experience to 

enable them to fulfil their obligations to the Group. As 

evidenced by the aforementioned, the committee has 

appropriately addressed all its oversight responsibilities 

in respect of sustainability reporting, internal financial 

controls, financial accounting controls, financial and 

fraud, as well as IT risks related to financial reporting

RISK COMMITTEE

Günter Steffens, an independent Non-Executive Director, 

is the chairman of the Risk Committee. Craig McDougall 

and Thabo Mokgatlha are both independent Non-

Executive Directors.

The Risk Committee meets at least quarterly and is 

responsible for monitoring risk management in the Group, 

while the Board retains overall accountability for risk in 

general. The role of the committee is to assist the Board in 

carrying out its risk analysis and management responsibilities 

and to ensure that processes are in place to enable 

complete, timely, relevant and accurate risk disclosure.

The Board has delegated to executive management 

the responsibility of implementing and executing the 

Board’s risk strategy by means of risk management 

plans, systems and processes. A risk management plan 

and policy have been developed and communicated 

throughout the Group, so as to ensure that an appropriate 

risk control framework is maintained and that risk is 

integrated into the day-to-day activities of the Group.

The committee expresses an annual opinion and 

monitors the Group’s level of risk tolerance. Risks are 
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prioritised, ranked and rated through the Barn-Owl 

technology platform, in order to focus management’s 

responses and interventions. A systematic, documented, 

formal assessment of the risks affecting the Group is 

conducted on an ongoing basis, and detailed reports 

and risk registers are reviewed and presented at least 

twice per year. Key risks are reported to the Audit 

Committee and, where necessary, escalated to the Board.

As an example, the committee will be responsible for 

reviews regarding the adequacy of systems and controls, 

interest rate and liquidity risks, market risk, legislative risk, 

corporate governance and reputation risks, credit risk, 

exchange rate exposure, investment risk, insurable losses, 

as well as insurance risks, business continuity risk and 

financial risk. As recommended by King III, the committee 

also monitors that an effective IT internal control 

framework exists, that the IT strategy is integrated and 

aligned with the Group’s strategy and business processes, 

and that IT risks are addressed appropriately.

The Group has not taken any undue risk in the pursuit of 

reward and has suffered no material loss during the review 

period as a result of any unusual or undue risk taken. Given 

the processes and measures described above, the Risk 

Committee is of the view, and has accordingly provided 

assurance to the Board, that risk is managed and 

controlled prudently and effectively throughout the Group.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

The committee comprises three non-executive members, 

two of whom are independent. The members are 

Phumzile Langeni, Paul Botha and Günter Steffens. 

Phumzile Langeni, an independent Non-Executive 

Director and Chairman of the Board, chairs this committee.

The Nominations Committee is responsible for driving 

succession planning, and for establishing processes and 

criteria to identify suitable candidates for appointment to 

the Board. When assessing Board succession, and upon 

identifying any shortcomings in Board composition, the 

committee will make recommendations to the Board aimed 

at enhancing the Board’s combined skills set or experience. 

The committee will also screen potential candidates and 

advise the Board regarding the appointment of individuals 

who are best able to discharge the responsibilities of Directors.

Directors will be appointed on the basis of skill, acumen 

and experience, so as to ensure the widest possible 

positive impact on the activities of the Group.

The committee will also consider chair and members’ 

terms in office, as well as the need for balancing 

continuity with fresh perspectives.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members. 

The members are Paul Botha, Günter Steffens and 

Phumzile Langeni. Paul Botha, a Non-Executive Director, 

is the chairman of this committee. The Chief Executive 

Officer attends this meeting by invitation.

The principal role of the remuneration function is to assist 

the Board in determining and implementing the Group’s 

remuneration philosophy, and to review and approve the 

remuneration and employment terms of Directors and 

senior Group executives.

The committee meets at least twice a year regarding 

remuneration, and its primary objective is to ensure 

that Directors and executives are remunerated fairly 

and responsibly, so as to ensure that their services are 

retained and that their interests are aligned with the 

interests of shareholders.

The remuneration policy of the Group is aligned with its 

strategy and promotes individual performance. It aims 

to attract, retain and motivate talented executives and 

is benchmarked to remuneration levels, both within and 

outside the Group. The committee takes advice from 

external remuneration specialists as and when required.

Within the boundaries of the policy, remuneration 

for executives consists of an all-inclusive total cost-

to-company fixed element, a variable element and 

an envisaged long-term incentive. The fixed element 

of remuneration is reviewed annually. The annual 

variable element of reward is awarded as an incentive 

to executives to achieve predetermined financial and 

strategic targets. The performance-related elements 

of remuneration constitute a substantial portion 

of the total remuneration package to ensure that 

performance is linked to achievement of operational 

and strategic goals.
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In consultation with the Board Chairman, the committee 

sets the forward-looking remuneration of Non-Executive 

Directors, based on benchmarked remuneration 

information from the Group’s peers and the wider 

industry. These fees are fixed for the year ahead and 

are approved via a special resolution of shareholders 

at the Annual General Meeting. The remuneration of 

Non-Executive Directors comprises a fixed fee irrespective 

of meetings attended and does not include any share-

based or other performance-linked incentives that might 

encourage a short-term focus on Group performance.

CAPEX COMMITTEE

This committee assesses capex applications before these 

are presented to the Board. This committee comprises 

an independent Non-Executive Director who acts as the 

committee chair and a Non-Executive Director. The CEO 

attends the committee’s meetings by invitation. During 

the reporting period, the committee was chaired by  

Craig McDougall.

The responsibilities of the committee include:

• ensuring that the Group manages and monitors  

 its capital expenditure programme in accordance  

 with the latest approved budget and strategic  

 plan, and that the capex authority limits in force

 at the time are in line with applicable Standard  

 Operating Procedures (“SOPs”);

• approving capex requests timeously and in 

 accordance with the capex authority limits;

• reviewing the Group’s applicable SOPs to ensure  

 that they are relevant and complete;

• recommending changes to the Group’s return on

 investment requirements and hurdle rates;

• ensuring that post-capex reports are completed 

 timeously and in accordance with SOPs;

• confirming that all capex-related matters are 

 properly and accurately reported in accordance 

 with the Board’s requirements; and

• reviewing the Group’s available capital financing 

 facilities on a periodic basis, so as to ensure that 

 they are sufficient to fund capex requirements.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

This committee comprises two independent Non-

Executive Directors and the CEO. The Group Human 

Resources Executive attends this committee’s meetings 

by invitation. The Social and Ethics Committee is chaired 

by Craig McDougall, an independent Non-Executive 

Director. Phumzile Langeni and Manley Diedloff are 

members of this committee.

The committee is centrally involved in the execution 

of a number of the Group’s sustainability initiatives, 

particularly as these relate to issues of employee 

relations, social responsibility and community engagement.

The committee discharges its duties in accordance with 

its terms of reference, statutory requirements, with other 

voluntary and mandatory standards applicable to the 

Group and its operations.

Its responsibilities include:

• monitoring the Group’s level of compliance with 

 various regulatory requirements, as well as with 

 voluntary social, ethical and best practice codes;

• promoting good corporate citizenship, in areas 

 such as the promotion of equality, the prevention 

 of unfair discrimination and the reduction of 

 corruption, through the application of measures 

 such as the OECD recommendations and 

 the United Nations Global Compact Principles, 

 contribution to community development, 

 sponsorship, donations and charitable giving, 

 and responsibility in areas such as environmental 

 preservation, health and public safety;

• creating and developing a corporate culture that 

 celebrates diversity and embraces transformation;

• promoting broader economic participation by 

 and within the Group;

• developing a skills-based personnel profile 

 that is both inclusive and representative of 

 national demographics;

• measuring achievements in areas related to 

 employment equity and B-BBEE;
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• enhancing the positive impact of the Company’s 

 activities, products or services on the communities 

 within which it operates;

• fostering positive relationships with clients and 

 consumers, including through activities such as 

 advertising, public relations, and compliance 

 with consumer protection regulations; and

• creating positive employment relationships, 

 through measures such as contributions towards 

 the educational development of employees, 

 improvements in working conditions and 

 compliance with relevant standards such as the 

 International Labour Organisation Protocol on 

 decent work and working conditions.

Subject matter experts and other individuals, who can 

add value to a specific subject, attend the meetings from 

time to time by invitation. The committee meets at least 

twice per annum.

REMUNERATION REPORT

REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY AND POLICY

The Remuneration Committee of the Group (“Remco”) 

ensures that remuneration is supportive of and in 

alignment with the strategy of the Group. Its mandate 

is approved by the Board following consultation with 

interested parties such as shareholders, Board members, 

Executives and advisers.

The design of the Group’s remuneration structures 

is informed by the review of local and packaging 

sector-specific remuneration trends and practices. 

Remuneration, both guaranteed and variable, is in 

keeping with packaging industry trends and South 

African business norms and is benchmarked accordingly. 

The Group uses various independent information 

providers to ensure that it remunerates employees 

competitively and care is taken to select appropriate 

peer groups, ensuring comparison with a similar market 

sector and comparable size.

Responsible remuneration has to be in line with 

sound governance and needs to take account of the 

performance and degree of value creation of Group 

companies during a financial year, over the medium to 

longer term and in the interest of business sustainability.

Executives and senior managers are rewarded appropriately 

for performance achieved in their respective business units. 

Consideration is also given to Group performance and 

market-related compensation benchmarks.

The level and quantum of remuneration needs to attract, 

retain and motivate good quality people at executive 

level and across the Group. Consideration is given to 

what is equitable within the Group and in line with the 

interests of providers of capital.

The Group strives to ensure a rounded and inclusive 

Group approach to its remuneration philosophy for both 

senior executives and the general staff. The primary 

determinant of remuneration for blue collar factory staff 

is through industry-wide collective bargaining.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND MEETINGS 

The members of the Remco, their meeting attendance 

summary and responsibilities are summarised in the 

governance section of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Given that the Group was only formed in the last 

month of the period being reported upon and that 

the Directors, both Non-Executive and Executive, 

were only employed and remunerated by the Group 

from the date of listing, being 24 May 2017 there are 

no earnings or remuneration to be reported upon. 

For details of remuneration earned by the Directors 

and key management during the financial year ended 

28 February 2017 - during which the Group formed 

part of Astrapak - please refer to note 29 on  

pages 70 to 71 of the report.

The annual remuneration payable to Non-Executive 

Directors, as approved by shareholders of the Group 

at the general meeting of the Company held on 

7 June 2017, is as follows:
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  ANNUAL DIRECTORS FEES

P Langeni 200 000

PC Botha* 125 000

GZ Steffens 125 000

C McDougall 125 000

TV Mokgatlha        125 000 

 TOTAL        700 000 

  BASIC
SALARY

CAR
ALLOWANCE

BENEFIT 
FUND 

CONTRIBUTIONS

TOTAL
GUARANTEED 

REMUNERATION

VARIABLE 
REMUNERATION 
/ SHORT-TERM 

INCENTIVE

TOTAL 
GUARANTEED 

AND VARIABLE 
REMUNERATION

M Diedloff 2 983 339 160 000 538 976 3 682 315 1 581 841 5 264 156

S Ratlhagane 913 079 - 168 012 1 081 092 162 164 1 243 256

 TOTAL 3 896 418 160 000 706 988 4 763 407 1 744 005 6 507 412

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION     

* To be paid to Metier Investment and Advisory Services Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries

The annual guaranteed remuneration payable to Executive Directors subsequent to the listing was disclosed in the 

Pre-listing Statement of the Group. The annual guaranteed remuneration disclosed and variable remuneration or 

short-term incentive element, subsequently agreed, is detailed below: 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

TOTAL COST-TO-COMPANY REMUNERATION

A total remuneration package and its various elements are linked to market-related norms, degree of influence and complexity 

of the role in the Group. The balance between fixed and variable pay is structured according to seniority and responsibility.

Remuneration practices, policies and processes are non-discriminatory and reflect differentiation in the role performed 

and expected level of performance.

The Group aspires to be an employer of choice and the cost-to-company remuneration, inter alia, should reflect that.

The likely cost to the businesses is an important consideration in the design of remuneration structures and an efficient 

approach to remuneration is adopted, applying common structures where applicable across business units. Appropriate 

flexibility to respond to the competitive environment is allowed but kept to a minimum and requires necessary justification.
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INCENTIVISING PERFORMANCE

The Group has rolled out a performance management 

system at operational level in its endeavour to support 

and drive performance in the underlying businesses. The 

system will ensure that there is a performance contract 

for every position that defines the objectives and outputs 

required of the person holding down a particular job. 

Incentive structures and targets are then aligned thereto. 

Performance contracts and incentive structures ensure 

that there is a correlation between what is paid and what is 

delivered. These performance measures are both financial 

and non-financial, weighted and set over particular time 

periods. Performance against these agreed measures are 

then regularly monitored through performance reviews.

KEY ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION 

Remuneration of salaried employees consists of both 

a guaranteed total cost-to-company package and an 

incentive element. Short-term incentives apply to all 

salaried employees of a certain level.

The proportional weighting of variable remuneration 

generally increases in line with higher levels of authority 

and required skills.

GUARANTEED REMUNERATION

The guaranteed element of remuneration comprises 

a basic salary, qualifying allowances and compulsory 

benefits. Compulsory benefits include life and disability 

cover and defined contribution retirement funding, 

medical aid and car allowances if necessary.

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE SCHEMES 

The primary role of short-term incentives (“STIs”) is to 

align employee and Group interests to achieve the 

agreed objectives in a particular period, encourage 

desired behaviour and reward excellence.

STIs for Executive Directors are subject to the 

achievement of the Group Earnings Before Interest, Tax 

Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) budget for the 

full financial year.

STIs for participants at operational levels are based on 

a series of operational and financial targets. Targets are 

specific to the operation of employment of a participant. 

Financial targets include an appropriately weighted 

allocation against specific targets associated with 

EBITDA, net working capital, capex and any other specific 

or strategic financial measures identified by the Remco. 

Operational targets include an appropriately weighted 

allocation against efficiency, waste, machine uptime 

or downtime and other specific operational measures 

identified as key to the Group’s performance. The STI scheme 

is measured quarterly and runs over a 12-month period. 

This drives performance and ensures that employees 

who have successfully achieved the performance targets 

are compensated accordingly. Targets are set for each 

quarter and performance against these targets are reviewed 

at the end of each quarter. Participants are, subject to the 

sustainability of what has been delivered, paid a portion (60%) 

of the incentive earned in the quarter, with the balance 

(40%) carried forward to the financial year end and only 

paid after the receipt of the audited accounts for the 

year, subject to the meeting of the annual EBITDA target 

agreed for the relevant company.

The key principles of the short-term incentive scheme, 

other than achievement of agreed financial or 

operational targets, include minimum qualifying service 

periods in the year, pro rata adjustments for service 

periods of less than a year and conditional on being in 

the employment of the Group at the payment date. 

Incentive awards are generally self-funding, which requires 

that financial targets need to be met inclusive of the cost of 

these incentives There may be certain instances where the 

Remco may deem it appropriate to set specific personal 

objectives that drive the long-term strategy and future 

profitability of the business but that may not be self-

funding in the year in which they are implemented.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE SCHEMES 

The primary role of a long-term incentive (“LTI”) scheme 

is to deliver long-term sustainable value creation for 

shareholders and to provide participants with sufficient 

exposure to attract, retain, motivate and reward Executive 

Directors and senior management for their roles in doing so.
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The Group has introduced a cash-settled Share Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) Scheme for key senior employees on 

8 August 2017. The SAR Scheme will allow Executive Directors and certain senior management to earn a long-term incentive 

amount calculated based on the increase in the Master Plastics Limited share price between the grant date and the vesting 

and exercise of such rights. All awards in terms of the SAR Scheme are to be cash-settled. The objective of the scheme is to 

recognise the contributions of Executive Directors and senior management to the Group’s financial position and performance 

and to retain key employees. The vesting of the SARs is subject to specific conditions, including a minimum share price of R1.67 

and the continued employment of the participant. SARs are granted for a period of five years, with varying vesting periods.

The following SAR issues occurred on 8 August 2017 and terms associated therewith are highlighted below:

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS - CASH-SETTLED  

NAME SARs
GRANTED

SAR 
AWARD 
PRICE

MINIMUM 
SHARE PRICE 

VESTING 
CONDITION

SHARE PRICE 
AT DATE OF 

GRANT

DATE OF 
GRANT

SAR EXPIRY 
DATE  SAR VESTING 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

M Diedloff  5 000 000 1.36 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 100% 

S Ratlhagane     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22
Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS AND OTHER EMPLOYEES

Officer A  500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%

Officer B     500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Officer C     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Other employees     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

   6 750 000            

CEO SARs OTHER SARs

Date of SAR grant 8 Aug 17 8 Aug 17

Number of SARs granted 5 000 000 1 750 000

SAR award price (cents) 100 100

Share price at grant date (cents) 98 98

Expected volatility expressed as % 49.36% 49.36%

Expected life in years 5 5

Risk-free rate of return based vesting periods (%) 7.41% 7.16% - 7.41%

Expected dividend yield (%) - -

Fair Value per SAR in cents at measurement date 28.98 28.84

In terms of IFRS 2, liabilities relating to cash-settled share-based payments are adjusted to the fair value at financial 

position date. The estimated fair value of the SARs at the date of issue was calculated using the Black-Scholes model as 

set out below:
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WAGE EARNERS

The majority of the Group’s employees are in the wage-

earning category. These employees mainly fall within a 

bargaining council and their terms and conditions are 

regulated through industry collective agreements. The 

Group participates in relevant industry forums to ensure 

that it makes input into these negotiations.

During 2014, the plastics industry introduced the 

Plastics Negotiating Forum under the umbrella of the 

Metal and Engineering Industries Bargaining Council 

to negotiate terms and conditions of employment for 

the plastics industry.

Accounting for remuneration, IFRS and the Group’s 

accounting policies determine the accounting treatment 

of each component of remuneration, with detailed 

disclosures within the relevant notes to the annual 

financial statements. Costs are accounted for in relation 

to the applicable service rendered and the period to 

which they relate.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

THE GROUP SUSTAINABILITY PLAN

The primary objective of the Group’s sustainability plan is to 

identify ways in which the Group can improve its sustainability 

performance and manage some of the risks associated 

with sustainability. The plan aims to provide a framework 

for improving the sustainability of the organisation as a 

whole, and for making sustainability decisions based on 

the sustainability plan. It accordingly frames the organisation’s 

sustainability aspirations as realisable goals, by laying 

out specific implementation steps and establishing 

metrics for measuring the results of these.

Each of our material issues identified in the sustainability 

plan is described in terms of:

• the existence and communication of relevant 

 and effective policies;

• management processes;

• benchmarks and targets;

• third party systems or standards;

• supply chain interventions/requirements/influences;

• stakeholder engagement;

• the recording of information and the

 filtering of this information through

 reporting processes; and

• leveraging success internally and externally.

THE GROUP SUSTAINABILITY BAROMETER

In order to quantify the Group’s success in achieving 

its sustainability targets, a sustainability barometer is 

being developed to provide the Group with a simple 

mechanism through which to approach the sustainability 

plan. The barometer includes the key aspects of the 

sustainability plan and examines the following:

• area of focus (material aspect)

• objective

• measurement

• target

The barometer is intended to form the basis of 

management approaches to material issues, through 

engagement and discussion at regular meetings. It 

is intended that the Group’s executive management 

reviews material issues on an annual basis, during 

the reporting process, in order to establish whether 

additional aspects should be incorporated into the 

barometer. This process is intended to support the 

practice of “integrated thinking” within the Group, and to 

promote a fully integrated approach to management, as 

recommended by King III.

The barometer is considered to be an effective sustainability 

management tool that can grow in scope over time. 
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SUSTAINABILITY FOCUS AREA OBJECTIVE MEASURE

Raw 
Materials

Availability

Raw materials availability Rolling forecast for OTIF

Creating alternative grade 
materials to increase availability

% of major raw materials with  
an alternate materials grade

Cost
Managing and optimising the 
cost of raw materials

Over or under the SE Asia Import 
Parity on Platts

People, 
Health 
and 
Safety

Injuries

Reducing operational injuries 
and lost time relating from injuries

Disabling Injury Frequency Rate (“DIFR”)

Lost-Time Injury Frequency Rate (”LTIFR”)

Increasing levels of compliance 
relating to OHS Act

Compliance and legal 
compliance audit

Employee 
Well-being

Improvements in employee 
well-being (leading to reduced 
absenteeism and turnover)

Rate of employee turnover

Career development training
Average number of career training 
hours per employee, per month

Labour 
Relations

Reduction in incidents of industrial 
action, and in production losses 
as a result of industrial action

Production days lost due to 
industrial action, per quarter

Maintenance of effective 
employee engagement processes

Number of workplace 
disputes unresolved

Skills 
Development

Improvement in levels of 
key skills within Group

Average hours of skills training 
per employee, per month

Energy

Availability/ 
Security

Reliable supply of a minimum quantity 
of energy to maintain critical operations

Lost production due to 
energy supply interruptions (t)

Efficiency

Ongoing reductions in energy 
costs through implementation 
of energy efficiency and energy 
demand reduction measures

Energy intensity:
• Rand/ton production
• kWh/m2

Cost
Reduction in waste management 
costs in absolute terms

Total volume of waste

Resource 
Consumption 
and Pollution 
Control

Waste Efficiency
Improve operating expense 
performance through improving 
waste efficiencies

Levels of waste generated 
from manufacturing processes 
per unit of production

Regulatory 
Compliance

Maintain 100% compliance with 
regard to environmental regulation

SA waste and pollution legislation

Cost
Reduction in waste management 
costs in absolute terms

Total volume of waste

Regulation

Emissions Compliance with legislation 100% compliance

Carbon Efficiency 
and Taxation

Reduce GHG emissions Carbon footprint report

Reduce CO e intensity CO e/ton of production
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COMPLIANCE AND RISK

PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board endorses the principles and values of good corporate governance contained in King III, which became effective 

on 1 March 2010. The Board is committed to transparency, ethical leadership and accountability. The Directors understand 

that the six capitals - being financial, manufactured, intellectual, human, social and natural - are interconnected and 

direct the Group’s operations in such a way that performance is assured in all aspects.

GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE OVERVIEW

During the period under review, the Board has made every effort to further align the Company with the principles 

and practices of King III, and to improve compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements in this regard. The Board, in its 

capacity as custodian of the company’s corporate governance, is committed to upholding the principles of responsibility, 

accountability, fairness and transparency enunciated in the King Code.

In accordance with the Listings Requirements for AltX-listed companies, the Group has applied the principles set out in 

Chapter 2 of the King Code (Role and Function of the Board) as set out in the table below.

AREA NO REQUIREMENT STATUS COMMENTS

BOARDS AND DIRECTORS

ROLE
AND 
FUNCTION
OF THE 
BOARD

2.1 The Board should act as the 
focal point for and custodian 
of corporate governance

Compliant The Directors are aware of their 
fiduciary duties and the Board as 
a whole is responsible for effective 
corporate governance

2.2 The Board should appreciate that 
strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable

Compliant All financial and non-financial 
matters are considered by the 
Board when developing and 
implementing Group strategy

2.3 The Board should provide 
effective leadership based on 
an ethical foundation

Compliant Ethics form an integral part 
of the values of the Group and 
the Board

2.4 The Board should ensure that the 
Company is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen

Compliant Through compliance with all 
environmental legislation, the  
Board ensures that the Group is  
a responsible corporate citizen

2.5 The Board should ensure 
that the Company’s ethics  
are managed effectively

Compliant  The Board has appointed a Social  
and Ethics Committee in compliance 
with Companies Regulation 43(i)

2.6 The Board should ensure that  
the Company has an effective  
and independent Audit Committee

Compliant The Audit and Risk Committees consist 
of three independent Non-Executive 
Directors, all of whom shall have the 
necessary experience and skills to serve 
on such Committees. The Audit and Risk 
Committees will satisfy itself as to the 
appropriateness of the expertise and 
experience of the Chief Financial Officer
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AREA NO REQUIREMENT STATUS COMMENTS

BOARDS AND DIRECTORS

ROLE
AND 
FUNCTION
OF THE 
BOARD
(CONTINUED)

2.7 The Board should be responsible  
for the governance of risk

Compliant Refer to 2.6

2.8 The Board should be responsible for 
information technology (IT) governance

Compliant The Board as a whole is responsible for 
information technology (IT) governance

2.9 The Board should ensure that the 
Company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence to non-
binding rules, codes and standards

Compliant Compliance with all regulatory 
frameworks and legislation forms  
part of the values of the Group

2.10 The Board should ensure that there is 
an effective risk-based internal audit

Compliant The Group has performed internal 
audits on an on-going basis. The Board 
will continue to ensure that effective 
risk-based internal audits, overseen 
by the Audit and Risk Committees, are 
performed frequently

2.11 The Board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
Company’s reputation

Compliant Constant enhancement of the 
reputation of the Group through  
the monitoring of stakeholder 
perceptions forms part of the 
values of the Group. The Board will 
ensure transparent and effective 
communication with stakeholders  
and treat shareholders equitably

2.12 The Board should ensure the integrity  
of the Company’s integrated report

Compliant The Board has taken the necessary 
steps to ensure the integrity of the 
integrated report

2.13 The Board should report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s system  
of internal controls

Compliant Internal controls and risk management 
systems are managed, assessed frequently 
and reported upon by the Board

2.14 The Board and its Directors should act 
in the best interests of the Company

Compliant Refer to 2.1. The Board acts in the best 
interests of the Group

2.15 The Board should consider business 
rescue proceedings or other turnaround 
mechanisms as soon as the Company  
is financially distressed as defined in 
the Act

Compliant The Board will, on a continuous basis, 
monitor the solvency of the Group 
and whether the Group is financially 
distressed and, if applicable, with 
due consideration, determine the 
appropriate action to be taken

2.16 The Board must elect a Chairman 
of the Board who is an independent 
Non-Executive Director. The CEO of the 
Company should not also fulfil the role 
of Chairman of the Board

Compliant The Chairman of the Board is an 
independent Non-Executive Director 
whose appointment is separate from 
that of the Chief Executive Officer

2.17 The Board should appoint the  
CEO and establish a framework  
for the delegation of authority

Compliant A Chief Executive Officer has  
been appointed and a framework  
for the delegation of authority has  
been established
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AREA NO REQUIREMENT STATUS COMMENTS

BOARDS AND DIRECTORS

COMPOSITION 
OF THE BOARD

2.18 The Board should comprise a balance of 
power, with a majority of Non-Executive 
Directors. The majority of Non-Executive 
Directors should be independent

Compliant The Board comprises two Executive 
Directors and four independent  
Non-Executive Directors and one  
Non-Executive Director

BOARD 
APPOINTMENT 
PROCESS

2.19 Directors must be appointed through a 
formal process

Compliant Appointments to the Board  
are considered by the  
Nomination Committee  
who follows a formal process

DIRECTOR 
DEVELOPMENTS

2.20 The induction of and on-going  
training and development of  
Directors should be conducted 
through formal processes

Partially 
compliant

All Directors have unlimited access 
to the Group’s resources in order to 
familiarise themselves with matters. 
In accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements pertaining to AltX-listed 
companies, all Directors will attend 
the Directors Induction Programme. 
There has to date been no continuous 
formal development and training of 
Directors. A development programme 
will be established and adopted

COMPANY 
SECRETARY

2.21 The Board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced Company Secretary

Compliant The Board has satisfied itself as to 
the competence, qualifications and 
experience of the Company Secretary

PERFORMANCE 
ASSESSMENT

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its 
committees and the individual Directors 
should be performed every year

Compliant An evaluation of the Board, its 
committees and individual Directors will 
be performed annually

BOARD 
COMMITTEES

2.23 The Board should delegate certain 
functions to well-structured committees 
but without abdicating its own 
responsibilities

Compliant The Board has a well-established and 
full range of subcommittees to whom 
certain functions are delegated. The 
Board however remains responsible 
and accountable to stakeholders

GROUP 
BOARDS

2.24 A governance framework should be 
agreed between the Group and its 
subsidiary boards

Compliant A governance framework does  
exist between the Group and its 
subsidiary Boards

REMUNERATION
OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES

2.25 Companies should remunerate Directors 
and executives fairly and responsibly

Compliant The Remuneration Committee is 
established and has to date and  
will continue to ensure that Directors 
and employees are remunerated  
fairly and responsibly

2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
Director and certain senior executives

Compliant The remuneration of the Directors  
is disclosed within this integrated 
annual report

2.27 Shareholders should approve the 
Company’s remuneration policy

Compliant The Group’s remuneration policy  
will be tabled to shareholders for 
a non-binding advisory vote at 
the annual general meeting of 
shareholders to approve such  
matters from time to time
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CODE OF CONDUCT 

AND BUSINESS ETHICS POLICY

The Group is committed to the highest ethical standards 

of business conduct, in line with the Group’s values. All 

employees are accordingly expected to maintain the 

highest standards of integrity and ethics in their dealings 

with suppliers, customers, business partners, stakeholders, 

government and society at large. The Group does not 

tolerate any form of corruption, violation of law or 

unethical business practices.

All the Group employees are required to adhere to the 

Code of Conduct and Business Ethics Policy of the Group. 

The objective of the policy is to promote and support 

the application of the Company values in all dealings of 

management, employees or representatives of the Group, 

with all stakeholders, whether internal or external.

The Code of Conduct and Business Ethics Policy is 

intended to provide guidance to employees regarding 

ethical standards related to all aspects of the Group’s 

operations, including corrupt and anti-competitive 

behaviour, confidentiality of information, remuneration 

and incentive practices, electronic communication, 

substance abuse and various other relevant issues. 

Responsibility for the implementation of the Code of 

Conduct and Business Ethics Policy lies with the Board’s 

Social and Ethics Committee. In this regard, the committee 

on an ongoing basis monitors the performance of the 

Group and its employees against these documents. It 

will also on a periodic basis review the provisions of 

the documents, in order to ensure that they remain an 

accurate representation of the values of the Group.

LEGAL COMPLIANCE

The Board’s Risk Committee closely and proactively 

monitors the Group’s compliance with applicable 

legislation and regulations. The Group has an appropriate 

compliance framework in place and is fully compliant, 

or working towards full compliance, with all the material 

provisions of applicable laws and regulations.

STRATEGIC BUSINESS GOALS

The Board closely monitors strategy achievement and is 

intensely aware of the changing dynamics of the industry 

and the economy, so as to ensure that the Group adapts 

timeously to benefit from changing circumstances. The 

Board regularly reviews the Group’s strategic intent for 

the medium and long-term.

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

The Group and its employees aim to be professional in 

all their business dealings and strive to enhance the 

Group’s reputation in the business community. The Group 

endeavours to form solid and lasting relationships with 

customers and suppliers.

The Group continues to pursue its employment 

equity objectives and invests in the development of 

its employees and rewards their performance. Every 

employee is expected to interact in a professional 

manner with other employees and to respect the cultural, 

religious and ethnic diversity within the workplace.

The Group respects the values, culture and beliefs of the 

communities in which it operates and undertakes to consult 

with the communities on matters that affect them.

The Group believes in the importance of a clean and 

healthy work environment for the well-being of its 

employees. All Group companies strive to achieve the 

highest safety and environmental standards.

INSIDER TRADING, CLOSED PERIODS 

AND SECURITIES TRADING CODE

No employee or Director or officer of the Group may 

deal, directly or indirectly, in the Group’s ordinary shares 

on the basis of unpublished price-sensitive information 

regarding the business or affairs of the Group.

The Group generally enters closed periods twice a year and 

these are strictly adhered to. Closed periods commence at 

the results reporting dates, namely 28/29 February and  

31 August of each year, and end once the results have 

been disclosed to the market for the relevant period. 

Closed periods are also observed prior to corporate 

actions as required by the JSE Listings Requirements.
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The Board Charter contains a dealing code that 

regulates dealings in the Group’s shares. Executives and 

Directors are required to obtain written approval from 

the Chairman prior to dealing in any Group securities. 

Records of all transactions and approvals in respect 

of Executives and Directors are maintained by the 

Company Secretary and all Directors’ dealings are 

timeously declared on SENS. Any changes in Directors’ 

shareholdings are reported at each Board meeting and 

annually disclosed in the integrated annual report.

 

PRICE-SENSITIVE INFORMATION

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements on 

price-sensitive information, the Group has adopted 

various policies dealing with the following issues:

• The determination of price-sensitive information.

• Discussions with the press, institutions and shareholders.

• Closed periods during which no Director or affected 

 employee is permitted to trade in the Company’s shares.

FINANCIAL CONTROL AND REPORTING 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that Group 

companies maintain adequate records and report 

accurately and reliably on the financial position, activities 

and results of the Group. Financial reporting procedures are 

applied in the Group at all levels to meet this responsibility.

Financial and other information is constantly 

reviewed and remedial action taken where necessary. 

Improvements in the quality of reported information 

are continuously effected through the replacement or 

upgrading of information systems.

The Group’s annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with IFRS. Appropriate accounting policies 

are consistently applied, unless an accounting policy 

requires revision or there is a requirement to adopt new 

accounting standards, in which case proper disclosure 

is made. Reasonable and prudent judgements and 

estimates are made in order to properly disclose the 

Group’s financial status, and these are reviewed by the 

external auditors and the Audit Committee.

PRINCIPAL INTERNAL FINANCIAL 

CONTROL PROCEDURES

The Board holds overall responsibility for ensuring that 

the Group maintains a system of internal financial control 

that provides reasonable, but not necessarily absolute, 

assurance regarding the reliability of the financial 

information used within the business and for publication, 

and ensures that assets are safeguarded.

Prudent financial controls and procedures are in place, 

including controls involving the segregation of incompatible 

duties and controls relating to the security of assets. The 

operations and effectiveness of internal financial controls 

are maintained and reviewed on a regular basis.

Procedures for seeking and obtaining approval for 

financial transactions are contained in the Group’s levels 

of authority document, and are applied diligently across 

the Group’s finance operations.

The Group operates a comprehensive annual planning 

and budgeting process. The annual budget is approved 

by the Board. The financial reporting system compares 

results with plans, budgets and previous years’ results, in 

order to identify deviations on a daily and monthly basis. 

Reports include regular cash flow statements, income 

statements and balance sheets projected for 12 months 

ahead, which are used, among others, to determine 

future funding needs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is assisted by a suitably qualified, competent 

and experienced Company Secretary. The Company 

Secretary is a Director and has been empowered 

to effectively fulfil her responsibilities. The Company 

Secretary provides guidance as required to the Board 

collectively, and to each Director individually, regarding 

the discharge of their responsibilities.

Among other responsibilities, the Company Secretary 

advises the Board regarding appropriate procedures 

for the management of meetings and ensures that a 

prudent corporate governance framework is maintained 
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throughout the organisation. The Company Secretary 

also assists with the evaluation of Board members, and 

facilitates the induction of the new Directors into the Group.

Based on the outcome of a formal assessment 

conducted by the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and 

Audit Committee Chairman, the Board is of the opinion 

that the Company Secretary, who is a qualified Chartered 

Accountant, possesses the competence, knowledge 

and experience to carry out the duties of a Company 

Secretary of a public company and is an effective 

steward of the Group’s corporate governance framework. 

The Chairman holds regular meetings with the Company 

Secretary and assesses her performance and provides 

guidance where necessary.

LISTING REQUIREMENTS COMPLIANCE

In terms of paragraph 3.19 and 3.21 (a) of the JSE Listings 

Requirements, the Group is required to submit an Annual 

Compliance Certificate to the JSE confirming that the 

Group has complied with the JSE Listings Requirements 

over the past financial year. The Company Secretary has 

prepared the Annual Compliance Certificate, which will 

be submitted to the JSE together with the Report.

BROAD BASED BLACK 

ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT

The Group has completed its rating in March 2017 and 

has received a Level 4 – Empowered/Value Added 

Supplier Accreditation.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The Group acknowledges that in the industry within 

which it operates, maintaining and managing a balance 

between an entrepreneurial culture and the stringent 

requirements of the regulatory environment is of critical 

importance. The risk framework within which the Group 

operates and which is managed under the stewardship 

of the Board and its committees ensures that this is 

achieved with minimal risk to shareholders.

The Group has a comprehensive risk matrix which is 

continually reviewed and updated by the Board. All 

potential risks are timeously brought to the Board’s 

attention. Risk assessment is a standing agenda item for 

Board meetings and Risk Committee meetings are held at 

least quarterly. The Board is responsible for the governance 

of risk and setting of risk tolerance levels, whilst the process 

of risk management is delegated to management.

The process of risk management in the Group involves 

identifying, assessing, managing, monitoring and 

reporting on material and emerging forms of risk across 

the Group that could affect performance.

Information is collected widely, then collated and 

reported centrally, enabling an early warning system 

and a transparent view of pervasive and unacceptable 

risks in all parts of the Group. The risk environment is 

ever-changing, compelling each level of management, 

from the Board downwards, to continuously appraise 

their risk environments to ensure that significant risks are 

timeously identified.

The Group’s risk management policies and processes 

have been reviewed and adjusted accordingly, following 

a “top-down” approach. Formal risk assessments and 

training have been carried out across the Group and 

the global risk register rolled out to the individual 

business entities. These in turn are continuously assessed 

by management, internal and external audit, and 

independent risk practitioners.

A Group-wide system of internal control has been 

established to manage significant risks. This provides 

reasonable assurance that the Group’s business objectives 

will be met. A system of management, self-assessment 

and internal audit review has been implemented and is 

continually refined to ensure key risk areas are assessed 

and controlled. Risks are further controlled and managed 

by Group policies that limit exposure in specific areas 

such as finance, IT, treasury, human resources, sales and 

marketing, operations and supply chain, quality assurance, 

innovation and major projects, health and safety, as well 

as through external insurance.

A consolidated risk register is in place that details 

specific risk exposures and related values at risk, control 

standards, critical success factors and key risk indicators 

for all identified key risks. The Group’s risk is classified into 

the following categories:

• Customer

• Financial risk (debtors, general and treasury)

• Human capital

• Innovation

• IT and commercial

• Major projects

• Operational

• Regulatory

• Strategic

• Sustainability

• Transformation

To the extent applicable, each of the identified risks 

within these categories have controls and focused 

mitigation plans, with these risks and mitigation plans 

regularly monitored and adjusted as required. The risks 

are presented to the Board in the form of “heatmap 

matrixes” together with the detailed registers. 

The detailed controls and mitigation plans are also 

tabled at operational levels for continuous updating.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES
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DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 

maintenance of adequate accounting records and the 

preparation and integrity of the financial statements and 

related information. The financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with the Companies Act of South 

Africa, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

of the International Accounting Standards Board, SAICA 

Financial Reporting Guide as issued by the Accounting 

Practices Committee, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 

Interpretations issued by IFRS Interpretations Committee.

The Company’s independent auditors, Deloitte & 

Touche, have audited the financial statements and their 

unmodified report appears on page 37.

The Directors are also responsible for the systems of internal 

controls. These are designed to provide reasonable, 

but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the 

financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify 

and maintain accountability of assets, and to prevent and 

SECRETARIAL CERTIFICATION

In accordance with section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, it is hereby certified that to the best of my 

knowledge the Company has lodged with the Register of Companies all such returns as are required by a private 

Company in terms of the Act and such returns are true and correct for the financial period ended 28 February 2017.

detect material misstatement and loss. The systems are 

implemented and monitored by suitably trained personnel 

with an appropriate segregation of authority and duties. 

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to 

indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning 

of these controls, procedures and systems has occurred 

during the period under review.

The consolidated and separate financial statements 

are prepared on a going-concern basis. Nothing has 

come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that 

the Company will not remain a going concern for the 

foreseeable future. 

These consolidated and separate financial statements 

were prepared by Salome Ratlhagane CA (SA) under the 

supervision of Manley Diedloff (Group Chief Executive Officer)

These financial statements were audited in compliance with 

section 29(1)(e)(i)(aa) of the Companies Act of South Africa.

The financial statements set out on pages 41 to 88 

were approved by the Board and are signed on their 

behalf by:

MANLEY DIEDLOFF

31 August 2017

SALOME RATLHAGANE 

31 August 2017

SALOME RATLHAGANE 

Company Secretary

31 August 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 
OF MASTER PLASTICS 
PROPRIETARY LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 

AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated and separate 

financial statements of Master Plastics Limited (the 

Group) set out on pages 44 to 88 which comprise the 

statements of financial position as at 28 February 2017, 

and the statements of comprehensive income, the 

statements of changes in equity and the statements of 

cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 

statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated and separate financial position of the 

Group as at 28 February 2017, and its consolidated and 

separate financial performance and consolidated 

and separate cash flows for the period then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 

of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with 

the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of 

Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and 

other independence requirements applicable to performing 

audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA 

Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements 

applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA 

Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards 

Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. 

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 

professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements of the current period. This matter was 

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 

and separate financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on this matter. 
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KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN THE AUDIT

GROUP CONSOLIDATION AND RESTRUCTURING OF THE GROUP 
(CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)

As disclosed in Note 9 in the consolidated financial 

statements, the Astrapak Limited Group had a strategy 

to exit the Flexibles division and rationalise the Rigids 

division operations, resulting in significant group 

restructuring.  This resulted in the formation of the Master 

Plastics Limited Group.  This reorganisation increased 

the risk of material misstatement, as these transactions 

are complex, unusual and the value of the transactions 

are significant.  These complexities associated with this 

process, have a direct impact on the consolidation process.  

Accordingly, for the purposes of our audit, we identified the 

accounting for the restructure as a key audit matter.

In assessing the completeness and accuracy of the Group 

consolidation including the treatment of non-current assets 

held-for-sale, we performed the following procedures: 

• Obtained a detailed understanding of the restructuring 

 transactions by reviewing underlying agreements and 

 assessed the accounting treatment in terms of IFRS.

• Used our tax specialists to assess the tax implications 

 of the restructuring transactions.

• Considered the current period completed restructuring 

 transactions, and determined that the appropriate 

 portion of income is included in the current period.

• Considered the accounting treatment of the 

 restructuring transactions, to determine that these 

 are appropriately accounted for under IFRS.

We consider the accounting for the transactions and the 

corresponding disclosure to be appropriate and in line 

with IFRS.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises the Integrated Report, 

Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the 

Secretarial Certification as required by the Companies 

Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date 

of this report. The other information does not include the 

consolidated and separate financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 

statements does not cover the other information and we 

do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements, our responsibility is to 

read the other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the consolidated and separate financial statements 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 

information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 

report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that 

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 

Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the 

Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated and separate financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 

 to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

 purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

 of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 

 used and the reasonableness of accounting 

 estimates and related disclosures made by 

 the Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ 

 use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

 based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

 material uncertainty exists related to events or 

 conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

 Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a 

 going concern. If we conclude that a material 

 uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

 in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 

 the consolidated and separate financial statements 

 or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

 opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

 evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

 report. However, future events or conditions may 

 cause the Group and/or the Company to cease to 

 continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 

 content of the consolidated and separate financial 

 statements, including the disclosures, and whether 

 the consolidated and separate financial statements 

 represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

 manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

 regarding the financial information of the entities 

 or business activities within the Group to express 

 an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

 We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

 and performance of the group audit. We remain 

 solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, 

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing 

the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate 

the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 

AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 

it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected  

to influence the economic decisions of users taken  

on the basis of these consolidated and separate  

financial statements.

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

 of the consolidated and separate financial 

 statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

 and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

 risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

 appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

 risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

 resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

 from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

 intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

 override of internal control. 
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 

matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 

such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 

Deloitte & Touche has been the auditor of Master Plastics Limited for one year.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE 

Registered Auditors

Audit & Assurance - Gauteng

Per: Corinne Ringwood

Partner 

31 August 2017

Buildings 1 and 2

Deloitte Place

The Woodlands

Woodlands Drive

Woodmead Sandton

Private Bag X6

Gallo Manor 2052

South Africa

Docex 10 Johannesburg

www.deloitte.com

National Executive: *LL Bam Chief Executive Officer *TMM Jordan Deputy Chief Executive Officer * MJ Jarvis Chief Operating Officer
*AF Mackie Audit & Assurance *N Sing Risk Advisory *NB Kader Tax TP Pillay Consulting S Gwala BPS *K Black Clients & Industries
*JK Mazzocco Talent & Transformation MG Dicks Risk Independence & Legal *TJ Brown Chairman of the Board

A full list of partners and directors is available on request.  *Partner and Registered Auditor.

B-BBEE rating: Level 2 contribution in terms of the DTI Generic Scoreboard as per the amended Codes of Good Practice.

Associate of Deloitte Africa, a member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors submit their report for the period ended 

28 February 2017.

MAIN BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

Establishment of the Master Plastics Group

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed 

at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and 

pursuant to an offer from RPC plc, the Board resolved to 

unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders by 

way of a distribution in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)

(ii) of the Companies Act of South Africa and section 46 

of the Income Tax Act. In order to give effect to this and 

prior to the implementation of the unbundling, Master 

Plastics was incorporated and a number of companies 

and/or assets were disposed of to Master Plastics 

through a series of asset-for-share transactions at the 

end of January 2017 and February 2017, resulting in the 

establishment of the Master Plastics Group. The Master 

Plastics Group has accordingly only been trading for a 

period of one month during the period being reported 

upon. The Company itself was formed during 2016 and 

this is its first year of reporting.

Master Plastics and its subsidiaries are manufacturers 

and distributors of an extensive range of plastic 

packaging products. The Group has manufacturing 

facilities in all major centres of South Africa. The 

operations service mainly the food, agricultural, 

industrial and retail markets.

The operating results and state of affairs of the Group 

are set out in the attached financial statements and do 

not, in our opinion, require any further comment.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As Master Plastics Limited was only established 

during the financial period ended 28 February 2017, no 

comparative figures are available.

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 

Details of the authorised share capital are given in note 

10 and note 9 to the consolidated and separate financial 

statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

The list of all parties related to the Group during the period 

ended 28 February 2017 is disclosed in Annexure 1 to the 

financial statements.

A number of special resolutions were passed by subsidiary 

companies. None of these resolutions are of significance to the 

shareholding in assessing the state of affairs of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The names of the Directors of Master Plastics are listed on 

page 35 of these financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at 

becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant 

to an offer from RPC plc, the Board resolved to unbundle 

Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders by way of a 

distribution in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the 

Companies Act of South Africa and section 46 of the Income 

Tax Act. The Master Plastics Group has accordingly only 

been trading for a period of one month during the period 

being reported upon. All Directors’ remuneration was paid by 

Astrapak Limited prior to the unbundling.

 TRADING RESULTS 2017
R ‘000

Revenue 9 347

Loss before taxation (808)

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (582)

Loss per ordinary share (cents) (13.9)

Headline loss per ordinary share (cents) (13.9)



42    |    MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the period, the Group acquired property, plant 

and equipment to the value of R1.1 million.

No plant and machinery was impaired in the current period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All Executive Directors and prescribed officers have 

service level agreements in place.

DISTRIBUTION TO 

ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

Master Plastics has not declared an ordinary dividend in 

respect of the financial period ended 28 February 2017.

LITIGATION STATEMENT

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Directors, 

whose names appear on page 35 of these financial 

statements, have confirmed that they are not aware of 

any other legal or arbitration proceedings, including 

proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may 

have or have had in the recent past, being at least the 

previous 12 months, a material effect on the Group’s 

financial position.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following subsequent events have occurred between 

28 February 2017 and the date of this report:

All resolutions relating to ordinary and preference share 

schemes proposed by Astrapak Limited pursuant to the 

offer from RPC plc were duly passed on 12 May 2017 and 

accordingly the listing and unbundling of Master Plastics 

became unconditional and effected on 24 May 2017.

The amount due to the vendor of Coralline Investments 

Proprietary Limited was settled in full on 17 May 2017. 

The amount of R6.43 million, which included interest of 

R0.21 million, was settled out of cash resources and in 

accordance with the relevant sale agreement. The amount 

due was reflected as part of trade and other payables in 

the Statement of financial position on 28 February 2017.

Master Plastics declared and paid a dividend of R75 million 

to Astrapak Limited on 22 May 2017 from its cash resources 

as Astrapak was the company’s sole shareholder at 

28 February 2017. The relevant resolutions, including those 

in relation to section 46 (solvency and liquidity) and 

section 75 (financial interests) of the Companies Act, where 

applicable were duly passed. The dividend will not 

impact the ability of Master Plastics to deliver on the 

profit forecast provided in the Pre-listing Statement.

The Group acquired 14 096 018 ordinary shares from the 

Astrapak Limited Linked Unit Trust Scheme and Astrapak 

Gauteng Proprietary Limited and these acquired shares have 

subsequently been cancelled on 3 July 2017 reducing the issued 

share capital of the Group from 135 131 250 to 121 035 232 shares.

The Directors are not aware of any matter or 

circumstance arising since the end of the financial 

period until the date of their report that would require 

adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee has discharged all its 

responsibilities and carried out all the functions assigned 

to it in terms of section 94(7) of the Companies Act of 

South Africa and as recommended by the King III report.

Prior to the formation of this Audit Committee, the audit 

committee responsibilities were discharged by that of 

the Audit Committee of the Astrapak Group.

The Audit Committee has adopted formal terms of 

reference, as delegated to it by the Board, as its Audit 

Committee Charter in line with King III.

The Audit Committee herewith confirms that it has 

discharged the functions in terms of its charter and 

ascribed to it in terms of the Companies Act of South 

Africa in the following manner:

• reviewed the period-end financial results as published, 

 and recommended the adoption thereof to the Board;

• reviewed external audit reports on the financial statements;

• reviewed the Board-approved internal audit and 

 risk charters;

• reviewed and approved the internal audit plan;

• assessed the independence of the internal audit function;

• reviewed and approved the adopted approach to 

 risk management and the risk registers produced 

 via the risk assessment process;

• reviewed all internal audit and risk management reports;

• reviewed the internal audit and risk management 

 plans and where required made recommendations to 

 the Board on remedial actions to be taken;

• evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, 

 control and various governance processes;  

• verified the independence of the external auditors;  

• nominated Deloitte & Touche as auditor and noted 

 the appointment of Mrs Corinne Ringwood as the 

 designated auditor;  

• reviewed and approved audit fees and engagement 

 terms of the external auditor;  

• considered and determined the nature and extent 

 of non-audit services;  

• considered and satisfied itself that the Chief Financial 

 Officer has appropriate expertise and experience and 

 that the composition, experience and skills of the 

 finance function met the Group’s requirements;  

• considered and reviewed the appropriateness of 

 IT risks and controls;

• reviewed and monitored the appropriateness of the 

 Group’s combined assurance model and ensured that 

 significant risks facing the business were adequately 

 addressed; and

• received and dealt appropriately with any 

 complaints, from within or outside the Company, 

 relating to the accounting practices and internal 

 audit of the Company, to the content or auditing of 

 its financial statements, or any related matter.

The following key audit matter was identified during the 

Master Plastics audit:

• As disclosed in Note 9 in the consolidated financial 

 statements, the Astrapak Limited Group had a 

 strategy to exit the Flexibles division and rationalise 

 the Rigids division operations, resulting in significant 

 group restructuring.  This resulted in the formation of 

 the Master Plastics Limited Group.  This reorganisation 

 increased the risk of material misstatement, as 

 these transactions are complex, unusual and 

 the value of the transactions are significant.  These 

 complexities associated with this process, have a 

 direct impact on the consolidation process.  

In the course of its reviews, the Audit Committee took 

appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements 

were prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, paragraph 8.62 of the 

JSE Listings Requirements and in the manner required 

by the Companies Act. It further considered and made 

recommendations on internal financial controls, dealt 

with any concerns or queries of matters financial, audit or 

risk related, and reviewed and considered all legal matters 

that could have a significant impact on the organisation 

and the financial results reported or to be reported.

The Audit Committee determined that, during the 

financial period under review, it had discharged its legal, 

regulatory and all other responsibilities, as might be 

defined in its charter and terms of reference. The Board 

concurs with this assessment.

THABO MOKGATLHA 

31 August 2017 
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NOTES 2017
R ‘000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 145 759

Deferred taxation asset 4 8 648

154 407

Current assets

Inventories 5 46 260

Trade and other receivables 6 71 214

Cash and cash equivalents 11.3 94 182

211 656

Assets classified as held-for-sale 8 214

Total assets 366 277

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity

Share capital 10 235 404

Common control reserve (7 584)

Retained loss (582)

227 238

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing debt 11.1 5 974

Long-term financial liability 12 15 528

Deferred taxation liability 4 22 257

43 759

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 87 393

Short-term interest-bearing debt  11.2 6 843

Taxation payable 1 044

95 280

Total equity and liabilities 366 277

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017
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NOTES 2017
R ‘000

Revenue 14 9 347

Cost of sales (7 382)

Gross profit 1 965

Distribution and selling costs (2 453)

Administrative and other operating expenses (421)

Loss from operations 15 (909)

Investment income 16 103

Finance costs 16 (2)

Loss before taxation (808)

Taxation benefit 17 226

Loss for the period (582)

Other comprehensive loss -

Total comprehensive loss for the period (582)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent (582)

Loss per ordinary share (cents) 18 (13.9)

Diluted loss per ordinary share (cents) 18 (13.9)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017
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NOTES 2017
R ‘000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 22 2 166

Net interest received 22 101

Taxation paid (764)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 1 503

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of business 9 93 797

Additions to property, plant and equipment 23 (1 118)

Net cash inflow from investing activities 92 679

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 94 182

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 24 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 24 94 182

SHARE 
CAPITAL

R ‘000

RETAINED 
LOSS

R ‘000

COMMON 
CONTROL 
RESERVE*

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

Balance at incorporation - - - -

Ordinary share capital issued 235 404 - - 235 404

Common control reserve on acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries* - - (7 584) (7 584)

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (582) - (582)

Balance at 28 February 2017 235 404 (582) (7 584) 227 238

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD 28 FEBRUARY 2017

* The common control reserve arose on the acquisition of the equity interest by Master Plastics in Barrier Film Convertors 
 Proprietary Limited, Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited and Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited in terms of the restructure 
 detailed in note 9 and represents the differential between the net asset value acquired and the value of the shares 
 issued for such net asset value by Master Plastics.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Master Plastics is a Group incorporated under the 

Companies Act of South Africa. The address of the 

registered office is given on page 35. The principal 

business of the Group is described in the Directors’ report.

These financial statements are presented in South 

African Rand as that is the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the Group operates.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), Companies Act 

of South Africa, SAICA Financial Reporting Guide as 

issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, and 

Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 

Reporting Standards Council, interpretations issued by 

the IFRS Interpretations Committee and the JSE Listings 

Requirements to the extent applicable.

The consolidated financial statements have been period 

on the historical basis except financial instruments that are 

measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

1.1 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 

financial statements of the Master Plastics Limited Group 

and the entities controlled by the Group (its subsidiaries) 

as at 28 February 2017. Control is achieved where the 

Group has the power to govern the financial and 

operating polices of an investee entity, so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities.

On acquisition of equity interests in entities under 

common control by the Group, the differential between 

the net asset value acquired and the value of the 

shares issued for such net asset value is allocated to the 

common control reserve.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 

the period are included in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition 

or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 

to the owner of the Group and to the non-controlling 

interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest 

having a deficit balance.

If the subsidiary uses accounting policies other than 

those adopted in the consolidated financial statements 

for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, 

appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements 

in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 

expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

1.2 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable and represents 

amounts receivable for goods and services provided in 

the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, 

rebates and other sales-related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered 

and title has passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 

to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 

rate applicable.

1.3 LEASING 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the 

terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  Finance leases 

are capitalised.  All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as 

assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at 

the present value of the minimum lease payments, 

each determined at the inception of the lease. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 

statement of financial position as a finance lease 

obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between 

finance charges and the reduction of the lease 

obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 

on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 

charges are charged directly against income, unless 

they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in 

which case they are capitalised in accordance with the 

Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.
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Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 

to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter 

into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term.

1.4 FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

Transactions in currencies other than South African 

Rand are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing 

on the dates of the transactions. At each year-end date, 

monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in 

foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 

on the year-end date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the 

date when the fair value was determined. Gains and 

losses arising on translation are included in net profit 

or loss for the period, except for exchange differences 

arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the 

changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity.

To hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, 

the Group enters into forward contracts and options (see 

below for details of the Group’s accounting policies in 

respect of such derivative financial instruments).

1.5  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS, 

 EXCLUDING GOODWILL 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews 

the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 

of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 

extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 

individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 

amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis 

of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 

also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or 

otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group 

of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and 

intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an 

indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 

of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-

generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-

generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as 

a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 

amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at 

a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.6 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS 

Under defined contribution plans, the Group’s legal 

or constructive obligation is limited to the amount 

that it agrees to contribute to the fund. Consequently, 

the actuarial risk that benefits will be less than 

expected and the investment risk that assets invested 

will be insufficient to meet expected benefits is borne 

by the employee.
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Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 

schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

1.7 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held-

for-sale are measured in accordance with IFRS5 “Non-

current assets held-for-sale”. Non-current assets and 

disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if the 

carrying amount will be recovered principally through 

a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 

This condition is regarded as met only when the asset 

is available for immediate sale in its present condition 

subject only to terms that are usual and customary for 

sales of such assets and its sale is highly probable. The 

Directors must be committed to the sale, which should be 

expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale 

within one year from the date of classification. 

IFRS5 requires that the sale must be highly probable 

within 12 months of classification as held-for-sale. For 

the sale to be highly probable, management must be 

committed to selling the asset and must be actively 

looking for a buyer. It is possible that the sale may not be 

completed within one year, but the delay effectively must 

be caused by events beyond the entity’s control and the 

entity must still be committed to selling the asset.

1.8 TAXATION

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for 

the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 

in the statement of comprehensive income because it 

excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 

deductible in other years and it further excludes items 

that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability 

for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement 

of financial position date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or 

recoverable on differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 

statements and the corresponding tax bases used 

in the computation of taxable profit, and is 

accounted for using the statement of financial 

position liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 

all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 

assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 

temporary difference arises from goodwill or from 

the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 

transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the 

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 

temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint 

ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 

reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 

at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 

expected to apply in the period when the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged 

or credited in the statement of comprehensive income, 

except when it relates to items charged or credited 

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 

dealt with in equity.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when 

there is a legal enforceable right to offset current 

taxation assets against liabilities and when the 

deferred taxation relates to the same fiscal authority.

Additional income taxes that arise from the 

distribution of dividends are recognised at the 

same time as the liability to pay the related 

dividend is recognised.
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1.9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment is accounted for at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairments. All direct costs, including finance costs 

relating to major capital projects, are capitalised up to 

the date of commissioning.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant 

and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 

of the item if it is probable that the future economic 

benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group 

and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of day-

to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of 

assets less their residual values, over their estimated 

economic useful lives, using the straight-line method. 

Depreciation is not provided for on freehold land.

Residual values and estimated useful lives are assessed 

on an annual basis and, if expectations differ from 

previous estimates, adjusted prospectively as a change 

in accounting estimate.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or scrapping 

of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

1.10 INVENTORIES 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 

and, where applicable direct labour costs and those 

overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition. 

Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out method. 

Net realisable value represents the estimated 

selling price less all estimated costs of completion 

and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and 

distribution. Inventory is valued using the standard 

costing method.

1.11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 

on the Group’s statement of financial position when the 

Group has become a party to contractual provisions of 

the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 

measured at fair value. Transaction costs are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 

and liabilities (other than financial assets and financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added 

to or deducted from the fair value of financial assets or 

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 

of financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised 

either at fair value through profit or loss or recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables which comprise trade and other 

receivables and loans to group companies are measured 

at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 

irrecoverable trade receivables are recognised in profit 

or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset 

should be impaired.

Other financial instruments which comprise trade and 

other payables and short-term interest-bearing debt 

are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the net of cash 

on hand and overdrafts, demand deposits, treasury 

account and other short-term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 

and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value. Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are 

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs. Finance charges, including premiums payable 

on settlement or redemption, are accounted for on an 

accrual basis to the statement of comprehensive income 

using the effective interest rate method and are added 

to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 

they are not settled in the period in which they arise.
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Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the 

rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired 

or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay 

to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 

either the Group has transferred substantially all the 

risks and rewards of the asset, or the Group has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 

asset. When the Group has transferred its rights to receive 

cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- 

through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, 

it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially 

all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 

control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise 

the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 

involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises 

an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 

associated liability are measured on a basis that 

reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 

retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 

guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and 

the maximum amount of consideration that the Group 

could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 

under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 

expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced 

by another from the same lender on substantially 

different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 

substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 

is treated as the derecognition of the original liability 

and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in 

the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss.

The effective interest rate is the interest rate that is 

actually earned or paid on an investment, loan or other 

financial product due to the result of compounding over 

a given time period.

An impairment exists if one or more events that has 

occurred since the initial recognition of the asset (an 

incurred ‘loss event’), has an impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of 

financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence 

of impairment may include indications that the debtors 

or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial 

difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy 

or other financial reorganisation and observable data 

indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears 

or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. The 

losses arising from impairment of loans and receivables 

are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 

finance costs for loans and in cost of sales or other 

operating expenses for receivables.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 

on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset 

or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

•  In the absence of a principal market, in the most 

 advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be 

accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 

the assumptions that market participants would use 

when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 

participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 

into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 

best use or by selling it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are 

appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 

data are available to measure fair value, maximising the 
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use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 

of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 

or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 

based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 

 markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•  Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 

 level input that is significant to the fair value

 measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

•  Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 

 level input that is significant to the fair value 

 measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value 

in the financial statements on a recurring basis,  the 

Group determines whether transfers have occurred 

between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 

categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 

the end of each reporting period.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss: 

derivative financial instruments. Where forward foreign 

exchange contracts have been entered into as economic 

hedges of the movements in the foreign exchange 

rates, they are initially recognised at fair value on the 

date the contract is entered into and is subsequently 

remeasured at fair value.  Any fair value gains or losses 

on remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss.

1.12 JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 

which are described above, the directors are required 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historic 

experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 

revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 

period of the revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

The Group evaluates its non-current assets for 

impairment annually whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 

asset may not be recoverable. Judgements regarding the 

existence of impairment indicators are based on market 

conditions and operational performance of the business. 

Future events could cause management to conclude that 

impairment indicators exist.

RESIDUAL VALUES 

The Group is required to measure the residual value of 

an item of property, plant and equipment. Estimation is 

made of the amount it would receive currently for the 

asset if the asset was already of the age and condition 

expected at the end of its useful life.

IAS 16 requires residual values (if material) to be 

estimated first at the date of acquisition and thereafter 

to be reviewed at each reporting date. If these change 

from the prior period, the depreciation charge is 

adjusted prospectively.

USEFUL LIFE

The useful life of an asset is the period over which the 

Group expects to use the asset, and not necessarily the 

asset’s economic life. Useful lives of assets are reviewed 

annually. If these change from the prior period, the 

depreciation charge is adjusted prospectively.

The Group uses the following indicators to determine 

useful lives:
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• Expected usage of assets;

• Expected physical wear and tear;

• Technical or commercial obsolescence.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 

each reporting date and is adjusted to the extent that it 

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

1.13 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

As the financial information reported on relates only to 

one month’s trading and is mainly attributable to the 

business of Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 

and due to the timing of the transactions of which 

Master Plastics acquired the underlying operations, 

a segmentation of the financial information reported 

would not be meaningful.

1.14 HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group has followed the recommendation contained 

in Circular 2/2015 Headline Earnings issued by SAICA and 

has published headline earnings per share in addition 

to attributable earnings per share. Headline earnings 

per share has been calculated in accordance with 

the requirements of Circular 2/2015. Attributable profit 

per share has been based on earnings attributable, 

including interest, to ordinary shareholders.

1.15 INVESTMENT AND LOANS

Investment in and loans to Group subsidiaries are stated 

at cost less any provision for impairment.

The Company assesses investments and loans for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value of an investment or 

loan may not be recoverable. If any such indication of 

impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of the 

recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than 

the value of the investment and loans, the investment and 

loan is considered to be impaired and is written down to 

its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in the profit and loss account.

2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 ADOPTED IMPACTING THE 
 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group did not adopt any new or revised accounting 

standards in the current period that had a significant 

impact on the amounts or disclosures reported in these 

financial statements.

2.1 IMPACT OF STANDARDS 

 NOT YET ADOPTED

At the reporting date or signing date, the following new 

and/or revised accounting standards were in issue but 

not yet effective:

• IFRS 1: First-time Adoption of International Financial 

 Reporting Standards (amendments resulting 

 from improvements 2014/2016 cycle (removing 

 short-term exceptions))*

• IFRS 2: Share-based payment (amendments to clarify 

 the classification and measurement of share-based 

 payment transactions)*

• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (finalised version, 

 incorporating requirements for classifications and 

 measurement, impairment, general hedge accounting 

 and derecognition)*                                                                                                         

• IFRS 10: Consolidated financial statements  

 (amendments regarding the sale or contribution 

 of assets between an investor and its associate 

 or joint venture)**

• IFRS 12: Disclosure of interests in other entities 

 (amendments resulting from improvements 2014/2016 

 cycle (clarifying scope))***   

• IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers*

• IFRS 16: Leases****                                                                                                  

• IAS 7: Cash flow statement (amendments as a result 

 of the disclosure initiative)***

• IAS 12: Income taxes (amendments regarding the 

 recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses)***

• IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

 Measurement (amendments to permit any entity 

 to elect to continue to apply the hedge accounting 

 requirements in IAS 39 for a fair value hedge of the 

 interest rate exposure of a portfolio of financial assets 

 or financial liabilities when IFRS 9 is applied, and to 
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 extend the fair value option to certain contracts that 

 meet the ‘own use’ scope exception)*

• IAS 40: Investment Property (amendments to clarify 

 transfers or property, to or from, investment property)*

* Effective date 1 January 2018

** Deferred indefinitely

*** Effective date 1 January 2017

**** Effective date 1 January 2019

The Group did not early adopt any new, revised or 

amended accounting standards. The accounting 

standards, amendments to issued accounting 

standards, which are relevant to the Group but not yet 

effective at 28 February 2017, are being evaluated for 

the impact of these pronouncements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LAND AND 
BUILDINGS

R ‘000

PLANT AND 
MACHINERY

R ‘000

MOTOR
VEHICLES

R ’000
TOTAL
R ‘000

COST

Balance at the beginning of the period - - - -

Acquisition of business* 22 657 249 903 2 722 275 282

Additions – post restructuring 1 077 41 - 1 118

Assets classified as held-for-sale - 
excess production equipment - (214) - (214)

Balance at the end of the period 23 734 249 730 2 722 276 186

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance at the beginning of the period - - - - 

Acquisition of business* (343) (128 500) (1 339) (130 182)

Charge for the period - (209) (36) (245)

Balance at the end of the period (343) (128 709) (1 375) (130 427)

Net book value at 28 February 2017 23 391 121 021 1 347 145 759

COST
R ‘000

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

R ‘000

NET BOOK
VALUE
R ‘000

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AT 28 FEBRUARY 2017

Land and buildings 23 734 (343) 23 391

Plant and machinery 249 730 (128 709) 121 021

Motor vehicles 2 722 (1 375) 1 347

276 186 (130 427) 145 759

*Represents property, plant and equipment acquired by Master Plastics Limited through the ‘asset-for-share’ transactions.

The instalment sale agreements and other variable rate loans are secured by the related plant and equipment with net 
book value of R12.8 million.

Land is not depreciated.

Useful lives per category of property plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles  5 years

Land and buildings are not depreciated.
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4. DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY)

2017
R ‘000

Accelerated wear and tear for taxation purposes on plant and equipment (26 661)

Estimated taxation losses 12 523

Prepayments and provisions 182

Other* 347

Net deferred taxation liability (13 609)

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES:

Net deferred taxation liability at the beginning of the period -

Acquisition of business (13 877)

Deferred taxation movement for the period 268

Net deferred taxation liability at the end of the period (13 609)

Analysed between

Deferred taxation asset 8 648

Deferred taxation liability (22 257)

Net deferred taxation liability at the end of the period 13 609

*Other consists of timing differences related to leave pay and the straight-lining of leases.

Based on the budgets and forecasts completed, management has determined the assessed loss to be recoverable.

5. INVENTORIES

2017
R ‘000

Raw materials 19 209

Work-in-progress 4 649

Finished goods 17 140

Consumable stores 6 555

Provision for obsolete stock (1 293)

Total 46 260

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense during the period was recognised as R5.4 million.  Inventory carried at 

net realisable value: R7 000.
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017
R ‘000

Trade receivables 60 963

Provision for doubtful debts (392)

60 571

Rates clearance prepayments 8 749

Value added tax receivable 1 140

Other* 754

Total 71 214

* Included in Other are deposits and sundry debtors. 

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates fair value.

The average credit period on trade receivables is 30-60 days. The Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful 

debts against specific receivables balances based on the past default experience of the counterparty and analysis of the 

counterparty’s current financial position.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit 

quality and defines credit limits to customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed on an ad hoc basis.

Due to the short-term maturity of these financial assets, the fair value of the trade receivables approximates the carrying amount.

7. CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

2017
R ‘000

TRADE RECEIVABLES ARE CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS:

Agriculture 28 969

Bakery 1 027

Beverage 849

Dairy 1 031

Food 3 190

Packaging 12 364

Retailers 4 603

Industrial 5 671

Other 3 259

60 963
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7. CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

2017
R ‘000

TYPE OF CUSTOMER 

Private 54 631

Listed 6 332

RECONCILIATION OF DOUBTFUL DEBT PROVISION

Opening balance -

Add: increases due to additional doubtful debts 392

Closing balance 392

THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
IS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING CREDIT RISK CRITERIA:

Neither past due nor impaired 55 113

Past due or impaired but the terms renegotiated 3 919

Past due but not impaired 1 931

Closing balance 60 963

CERTAIN DEBTORS ARE COVERED UP TO 80% BY CREDIT GUARANTEE INSURANCE. AGEING OF 
THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS PAST DUE OR IMPAIRED 
BUT THE TERMS RENEGOTIATED AND PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED:

30-60 days 522

60-90 days 3 113

90-120 days 1 515

120+ days 700

Closing balance 5 850

CREDIT RISK CATEGORISATION FOR THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT 
OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS NEITHER PAST DUE NOR IMPAIRED:

Low risk 55 113

Medium risk 5 850

8. ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

2017
R ‘000

Assets classified as held-for-sale - excess production equipment 214

Assets classified as held-for-sale consists of equipment which is considered redundant for the purposes of the Company 

and is expected to be disposed during the following financial year.
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9. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MASTER PLASTICS GROUP

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant to 

an offer from RPC plc, the Board resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders by way of a distribution 

in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and section 46 of the Income Tax Act. In order to give effect 

to this and prior to the implementation of the unbundling, Master Plastics was incorporated and a number of companies 

and/or assets were disposed of to Master Plastics through a series of asset-for-share transactions at the end of 

January 2017 and February 2017, which resulted in the establishment of the Master Plastics Group. The Master Plastics 

Group has accordingly only been trading for a period of one month during the period being reported upon. 

The ‘asset-for-share transactions’ and a breakdown of the assets and liabilities so acquired by Master Plastics is 

presented below and are accounted for as a common control transaction in terms of IFRS.

RAND VALUE 
OF SHARES 

ISSUED
R ‘000

NO OF PAR 
VALUE SHARES 

ISSUED
R ‘000

SHARES AND SHARE CLAIMS ACQUIRED 31 JANUARY 2017 (100% VOTING INTEREST):

- Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 79 650 36 446

- Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 6 912 8 954

- Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 6 511 6 746

93 073 52 146

BUSINESSES ACQUIRED AS 28 FEBRUARY 2017

- Peninsula Packaging 75 279 22 277

- Plusnet/Geotex 25 431 22 277

- Property letting enterprises 24 806 16 154

- Astrapak Investments 16 815 22 277

142 331 82 985

235 404 135 131

The following assets and liabilities were acquired by Master Plastics Group as a result of the aforementioned transactions:

2017
R ‘000

Properties 22 238

Plant and equipment 122 862

Deferred taxation assets 7 938

Inventories 46 133

Trade and other receivables 73 851

Cash and cash equivalents 93 797
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9. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MASTER PLASTICS GROUP (CONTINUED)

2017
R ‘000

Long-term interest-bearing debt (5 974)

Long-term financial liability (15 528)

Taxation payable (1 766)

Deferred taxation liabilities (21 815)

Trade and other payables (87 073)

Short-term interest-bearing debt (6 843)

Net asset value acquired 227 820

Common control reserve 7 584

Shares issued 235 404

Cash acquired 93 797

10. SHARE CAPITAL

2017
R ‘000

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

400 000 000 no par value shares 400 000

ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

135 131 250 no par value shares 

Stated capital 235 404

AT PERIOD-END, THE RATIOS WERE:

Debt (12 817)

Cash and cash equivalents 94 182

Net cash 81 365

Ordinary share capital 235 404

Retained loss (582)

Common control reserve on acquisition of equity interest in subsidiaries (7 584)

Adjusted capital 227 238

Net cash to adjusted capital (%)      35.8
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11. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH

2017
R ‘000

11.1 LONG-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

SECURED DEBT

Instalment sale agreements (variable rate) 12 817

Total long-term interest-bearing debt secured 12 817

Current portion transferred to short-term interest-bearing debt (6 843)

Net long-term interest-bearing debt 5 974

2017
R ‘000

ANALYSIS OF REPAYMENTS

Repayable: 

Within 1 year 6 843

Between 1 and 2 years 5 508

Between 2 and 3 years 466

Total repayments 12 817

11.2 SHORT-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Current portion of long-term interest-bearing debt 6 843

11.3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 94 182

Long-term and short-term interest-bearing debt represents asset-based finance liabilities which are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. These are designated as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

The instalment sale agreement and other variable rate loans are secured by the related plant and equipment with 

a net book value of R12.8 million. Refer to note 3.

The monthly instalment sale agreements bear interest at variable money market rates, the majority of which are at prime 

less 2%, ruling at the rollover dates. Refer to note 24 for details on the movement in prime interest rates. Redemption is 

reviewed and rolled forward. Security is provided by the underlying property, plant and equipment.
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11. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH (CONTINUED)

2017
R ‘000

11.4 NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Long-term interest-bearing debt 5 974

Short-term interest-bearing debt 6 843

Cash and cash equivalents (94 182)

(81 365)

2017
R ‘000

Trade payables 47 756

Inter-group creditors (note 28) 6 101

Other Payables

- Value Added Taxation 1 888

- Salaries and wages accruals 2 024

- Provision for bonuses 1 346

- Provision for leave pay 2 279

- Straight-lining of leases 1 346

- Provision for audit fees 1 036

- Acquisition of Coralline Investment Proprietary Limited minority 6 224

- Customer receipts in advance 17 200

- Other creditors 193

87 393

The Group evaluated numerous capital allocation opportunities during the period under review and invested to achieve 

an optimal result for ordinary shareholders. The opportunities that were pursued were funded partly by debt and partly by 

cash generated from within the Group. This resulted in net-cash of R81.4 million. The major capital allocations were R1.1 million.

12. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITY

The long-term financial liability of R15.5 million represents the estimated final payment due to the vendor of Coralline 

Investments Proprietary Limited. This estimated amount was calculated and based on forecasts at the time of the 

transaction in terms of which the minority interest in Coralline Investments Proprietary Limited was acquired by Astrapak 

Investments Proprietary Limited. The transaction occurred prior to the disposal of the business to Master Plastics as part 

of the restructure. The final amount will be settled upon finalisation of the Group audited results for the financial period 

ended 28 February 2019, which is anticipated to be towards the end of May 2019. Accordingly the amount finally due will 

be calculated based on the agreed valuation formula and the actual results achieved over the financial periods ended 

28 February 2017 to 28 February 2019 and could accordingly vary from the amount of the financial liability currently provided.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 30-60 days. No interest is charged on the trade payables 

for the credit period from the date of the invoice. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure 

that all payables are paid in accordance with the pre-agreed credit terms. The carrying amount of accounts payables 

approximates its fair value.
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2017
R ‘000

Sale of goods 9 347

Analysed as follows:

Gross sales: 9 687

- External customers (foreign) 76

- External customers (local) 9 611

Less: trade discounts allowed and credit notes (340)

9 347

15. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 

Loss from operations has been determined after taking into account the items detailed below:

14. REVENUE 

16. NET FINANCE COSTS

2017
R ‘000

Auditor’s remuneration

- Audit fees (104)

Depreciation

- Plant and machinery (209)

- Motor vehicles (36)

Staff costs (2 908)

Retirement benefit (134)

2017
R ‘000

Finance costs

-  External (2)

Investment income

-  External 103

101
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17. TAXATION

2017
R ‘000

SA normal taxation – current period 42

Deferred taxation – current period (268)

(226)

RECONCILIATION OF TAXATION RATE

South African normal and effective taxation rate on companies 28.00%

Estimated taxation losses available to offset future profits 44 725

Taxation losses against which no deferred taxation asset was raised -

2017
R ‘000

Loss per ordinary share (cents) (13.9)

Diluted loss per ordinary share (cents) (13.9)

Headline loss per ordinary share (cents) (13.9)

Weighted average number of shares in issue (‘000) 4 187

18. LOSS AND HEADLINE LOSS PER ORDINARY SHARE

NET
R ‘000

Net loss attributable to shareholders (582)

Headline loss attributable to shareholders (582)

As there were no headline adjustable items for the period, the loss per ordinary share and the headline loss per ordinary 

share is identical.

19. DISTRIBUTION POLICY

The dividend policy will be to declare and pay the excess of the distributable profits, if any. The distribution policy will be 

reviewed by the Board from time to time, in light of prevailing circumstances and future cash requirements.

The directors have not declared an ordinary dividend during the period.
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20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

21. LEASE COMMITMENTS

Operating leases are for various machinery and office equipment divisions and are payable in monthly instalments. 

Renewal terms vary from equipment to equipment.

22. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2017
R ‘000

Authorised, contracted and not spent -

Authorised, not yet contracted for 665

2017
R ‘000

Operating leases relating to plant and machinery

- due within one year 4 033

- due within two to five years 13 012

17 045

2017
R ‘000

Loss before taxation (808)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 245

Investment income (103)

Finance costs 2

Operating loss before working capital changes (664)

Increase in inventories (127)

Decrease in trade and other receivables 6 983

Decrease in trade and other payables and provisions (4 026)

2 830

Cash generated from operations 2 166
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23. ADDITIONS TO PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

2017
R ‘000

Plant and machinery 678

Motor vehicles 440

1 118

2017
R ‘000

Cash and short-term investments 94 182

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group purchases financial instruments in order to finance its operations and to manage the interest rate and 

currency risks that arise from normal business operations. In addition, financial balances - for example trade debtors, 

trade creditors and bank balances - arise from normal business operations within the Group.

The Group finances its operations mainly through retained profits, bank, credit borrowings and long-term bank loans.

The risk areas the Group is exposed to are credit risk, treasury risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. 

Compliance with the Group’s policy is reviewed at Risk Committee meetings. The policies have remained unchanged 

throughout the period ended 28 February 2017.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s treasury risk is managed through the Risk Committee reporting to the Board. One of the roles of this 

committee is to decide the appropriate philosophy to be adopted within the Group regarding the management of 

treasury risk and for considering and managing the Group’s existing financial market risks by adopting strategies within 

the guidelines set by the Board.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest rate risk is the possibility that the Group may suffer financial loss if either a fluctuating interest rate or fixed 

interest rate position is entered into or interest rates move adversely.

The Group uses standard market instruments to manage this risk. The risk profile of financial liabilities and assets at balance 

sheet date is detailed below, which excludes short-term receivables and non-interest-bearing short-term payables:

FLOATING 
RATE ASSETS

R ‘000

FLOATING 
RATE LIABILITIES

R ‘000

NET
ASSET
R ‘000

South African Rand 94 182 (12 817) 81 365

Total at 28 February 2017 94 182 (12 817) 81 365

LESS THAN
1 YEAR
R ‘000

BETWEEN
1 AND 2 YEARS

R ‘000

BETWEEN 
2 AND 5 YEARS

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

Trade and other payables 87 393 - - 87 393

Floating rate liability 6 843 5 508 466 12 817

Total 94 236 5 508 466 100 210

Refer to the sensitivity analysis in note 26 for further details.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 

at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 

contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of 

discounting is not significant.
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26. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

INTEREST RATE RISK

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R ‘000

+3% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

-1% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 94 182 2 825 -

Trade and other receivables 71 214 - -

Interest-bearing debt 12 817 (385) 128

Trade and other payables 87 393 - -

Total impact before tax 2 440 128

Taxation (683) (36)

Total impact after tax 1 757 92

The above table is calculated based on the following assumptions:

• Taxation is applied at a flat rate of 28%.

• The impact of each risk in the table above relates only to changes in that risk variable whilst keeping all other 

 variables constant.

• Changes in interest rate risk have been calculated by applying the reasonably possible change identified 

 above to the weighted average prime rate of interest.

• The methods and assumptions are consistent across the years presented unless indicated otherwise.

PRIME RATES OF INTEREST 
(source: South African Reserve Bank)

RATE (%) 2017

30 January 2014 9.00 -

17 July 2014 9.25 -

28 December 2016 9.75 -

29 January 2016 10.25 0.51

18 March 2016 9.98

10.49
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - 
 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

AMORTISED 
COST

R ‘000

NON-FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES
R ‘000

2017

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment - - 145 759

Inventories - - 46 260

Trade and other receivables 60 571 - 10 643

Cash and cash equivalents 94 182 - -

Deferred taxation asset - - 8 648

Assets classified as held-for-sale - - 214

Total assets 154 753 - 211 524

LIABILITIES

Long-term interest-bearing debt - 5 974 -

Long-term financial liability - 15 528 -

Deferred tax liability - - 22 257

Trade and other payables - 47 756 39 637

Short-term interest-bearing debt - 6 843 -

Taxation payable - - 1 044

Total liabilities - 76 101 62 938

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Astrapak Finance company is a division of Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited. Astrapak Manufacturing 

Holdings Proprietary Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Astrapak Limited.

AMOUNT 
PAYABLE

R ‘000

Astrapak Finance company (a division of Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited) 6 101
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29. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant to 

an offer from RPC plc, the Board of Directors of Astrapak resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders 

by way of a distribution in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and section 46 of the Income Tax Act. 

The Master Plastics Group has accordingly only been trading for a period of one month during the period being reported 

upon. All Directors’ remuneration was paid by Astrapak Limited prior to the unbundling.

REMUNERATION

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 

EXPENSE 
SHARE 

OPTIONS
R ‘000

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

M Diedloff 2 787 160 505 3 452 3 751 7 203 140 377 7 720

S Ratlhagane 854 - 155 1 009 144 1 153 - - 1 153

3 641 160 660 4 461 3 895 8 356 140 377 8 873

REMUNERATION

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 
FIXED 

FLEXIBLE
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

EXPENSE IN 
RESPECT OF 
RETENTION 

RELOCATION 
AND RESTRAINT 

OF TRADE
R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS

Officer A 1 340 168 297 1 805 410 2 215 500 2 715

Officer B* 1 769 - 309 2 078 223 2 301 - 2 301

Officer C 906  108 125 1 139  217 1 356 - 1 356

4 015 276 731 5 022 850 5 872 500 6 372

The prescribed officers are the three highest paid employees.

*Basic salary includes leave encashment amount of R575 000 which is non-recurring. 
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29. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 

As the financial information reported on relates only to one month’s trading and is mainly attributable to the business of 

Barrier Converters Proprietary Limited and due to the timing of transactions in terms of which Master Plastics acquired 

the underlying operations, a segmentation of the financial information would not be meaningful.

31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

The following subsequent events have occurred between 28 February 2017 and the date of this report:

All resolutions relating to ordinary and preference share schemes proposed by Astrapak Limited pursuant to the offer 

from RPC plc were duly passed on 12 May 2017 and accordingly the listing and unbundling of Master Plastics became 

unconditional and effected on 24 May 2017.

The amount due to the vendor of Coralline Investments Proprietary Limited was settled 17 May 2017. The amount of  

R6.43 million, which included interest of R0.21 million, was settled out of cash resources and in accordance with the 

relevant sale agreement. The amount due was reflected as part of trade and other payables in the Statement of  

Financial Position on 28 February 2017.

Master Plastics declared and paid a dividend of R75 million to Astrapak Limited on 22 May 2017 from its cash resources. 

The relevant resolutions, including those in relation to section 46 (solvency and liquidity) and section 75 (financial 

interests) of the Companies Act, where applicable, were duly passed. The dividend will not impact the ability of Master 

Plastics to deliver on the profit forecast provided in the Pre-listing Statement.

The Group acquired 14 096 018 ordinary shares from the Astrapak Limited Linked Unit Trust Scheme and Astrapak 

Gauteng Proprietary Limited and these acquired shares have subsequently been cancelled on 3 July 2017 reducing the 

issued share capital of the Group from 135 131 250 to 121 035 232 shares.

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial period until the date of 

their report that would require an adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.

2017
R ‘000

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EMOLUMENTS

P Langeni 369

PC Botha* 275

GZ Steffens 403

C McDougall 387

TV Mokgatlha 397

1 831

*Paid to Metier Investment and Advisory Services Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

NOTES 2017
R ‘000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 1 117 849

Investments in subsidiaries 2 25 236

143 085

Current assets

Inventories 4 36 326

Trade and other receivables 5 52 506

Cash and cash equivalents 21 31 108

Amounts owing by group companies 19 76 394

Shareholder loans 2 8 008

204 342

Assets classified as held-for-sale 7 214

Total assets 347 641

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity

Share capital 9 235 404

Retained loss (925)

234 479

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing debt 10.1 5 974

Long-term financial liability 11 15 528

Deferred taxation liability 3 22 257

43 759

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 62 295

Short-term interest-bearing debt 10.2 6 843

Taxation payable 265

69 403

Total equity and liabilities 347 641
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

NOTES 2017
R ‘000

Revenue 13 272

Administrative and other operating expenses (4 297)

Other income 2 742

Loss from operations 14 (1 283)

Finance costs 15 (2)

Loss before taxation (1 285)

Taxation benefit 16 360

Loss for the period (925)

Other comprehensive loss -

Total comprehensive loss for the period (925)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent (925)
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

NOTES 2017
R ‘000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 20 1 079

Net finance costs 20 (2)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 1 077

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment (1 077)

Aquisition of business - cash balances acquired 8 31 108

Net cash inflow from investing activities 30 031

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 31 108

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 21 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 21 31 108

SHARE 
CAPITAL

R ,000

RETAINED 
LOSS

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

Balance at incorporation - - -

Ordinary share capital issued 235 404 - 235 404

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (925) (925)

Balance at 28 February 2017 235 404 (925) 234 479

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2017

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LAND AND 
BUILDINGS

R ‘000

PLANT AND 
MACHINERY

R ‘000

MOTOR
VEHICLES

R ’000
TOTAL
R ‘000

COST

Balance at the beginning of the period - - - -

Additions 1 077 - - 1 077

Acquisition of business* 22 657 178 669 2 326 203 652

Assets classified as held-for-sale - 
excess production equipment - (214) - (214)

Balance at the end of the period 23 734 178 455 2 326 204 515

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance at the beginning of the period - - - - 

Acquisition of business* (343) (85 064) (1 259) (86 666)

Balance at the end of the period (343) (85 064) (1 259) (86 666)

Net book value at 28 February 2017 23 391 93 391 1 067 117 849

*Represents property, plant and equipment acquired by Master Plastics Limited through the ‘asset-for-share’ transactions.

The instalment sale agreements and other variable rate loans are secured by the related plant and equipment with net 
book value of R12.8 million.

COST
R ‘000

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

R ‘000

NET BOOK
VALUE
R ‘000

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AT 28 FEBRUARY 2017

Land and buildings 23 734 (343) 23 391

Plant and machinery 178 455 (85 064) 93 391

Motor vehicles 2 326 (1 259) 1 067

204 515 (86 666) 117 849

Useful lives per category of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles  5 years

Land and buildings are not depreciated.
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2. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND LOANS

2017
R ‘000

INVESTMENTS CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING:

Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 19 821

Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 2 818

Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 2 597

25 236

SHAREHOLDER LOANS CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING:

Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited Shareholder loan 4 094

Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited Shareholder loan 3 914

8 008

33 244

Shareholder loans have no fixed repayment terms and do not bear any interest.

3. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

2017
R ‘000

Accelerated wear and tear for taxation purposes on plant and equipment 22 257

Estimated taxation losses (257)

Other 257

Net deferred taxation liability 22 257

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES:

Net deferred taxation liability at the beginning of the period -

Acquisition of business 22 617

Deferred taxation movements for the period (360)

Net deferred taxation liability at the end of the period 22 257

Based on the budgets and forecasts completed, management has determined the assessed loss to be recoverable.
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4. INVENTORIES

2017
R ‘000

Raw materials 12 489

Work-in-progress 3 743

Finished goods 15 721

Consumable stores 5 666

Provision for obsolete stock (1 293)

Total 36 326

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense: Rnil.

Inventory carried at net realisable value: R7 000.

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017
R ‘000

Trade receivables 43 554

Inter-company receivables (note 24) 5 065

Provision for doubtful debts (392)

48 227

Rates clearance prepayments 2 518

Value added tax receivable 113

Other 1 648

Total 52 506

The average credit period on trade receivables is 30-60 days. The Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful 

debts against specific receivables balances based on the past default experience of the counterparty and analysis of the 

counterparty’s current financial position.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit 

quality and defines credit limits to customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed on an ad hoc basis. Due 

to the short-term maturity of these financial assets, the fair value of the trade receivables approximates the carrying amount.
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6. CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

2017
R ‘000

TRADE RECEIVABLES ARE CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS:

Agriculture 28 561

Bakery 1 028

Beverage 849

Dairy 955

Food 48

Retailers 4 632

Industrial 4 316

Other 3 165

43 554

TYPE OF CUSTOMER 

Private 36 372

Listed 7 182

RECONCILIATION OF DOUBTFUL DEBT PROVISION

Opening balance -

Add: increases due to additional doubtful debts 392

Closing balance 392

THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
IS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING CREDIT RISK CRITERIA:

Neither past due nor impaired 40 968

Past due or impaired but the terms renegotiated 655

Past due but not impaired 1 931

Closing balance 43 554

CERTAIN DEBTORS ARE COVERED UP TO 80% BY CREDIT GUARANTEE INSURANCE. AGEING OF 
THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS PAST DUE OR IMPAIRED 
BUT THE TERMS RENEGOTIATED AND PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED:

30-60 days 522

60-90 days 921

90-120 days 569

120+ days 574

Closing balance 2 586

CREDIT RISK CATEGORISATION FOR THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT 
OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS NEITHER PAST DUE NOR IMPAIRED:

Low risk 40 968
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7. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE

2017
R ‘000

Assets classified as held-for-sale - excess production equipment 214

Assets classified as held-for-sale consists of equipment which is considered redundant for the purposes of the Company 

and is expected to be disposed during the current financial period.

8. ESTABLISHMENT OF MASTER PLASTICS

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant to 

an offer from RPC plc, the Board resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders by way of a distribution 

in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and section 46 of the Income Tax Act. In order to give effect 

to this and prior to the implementation of the unbundling, Master Plastics was incorporated and a number of companies 

and/or assets were disposed of to Master Plastics through a series of asset-for-share transactions at the end of 

January 2017 and February 2017, which resulted in the establishment of the Master Plastics Group. The Master Plastics 

Group has accordingly only been trading for a period of one month during the period being reported upon. 

The ‘asset-for-share transactions’ and a breakdown of the assets and liabilities so acquired by Master Plastics is 

presented below and are accounted for as a common control transaction in terms of IFRS.

RAND VALUE 
OF SHARES 

ISSUED
R ‘000

NO OF PAR 
VALUE SHARES 

ISSUED
R ‘000

SHARES AND SHARE CLAIMS ACQUIRED 31 JANUARY 2017 (100% VOTING INTEREST):

- Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 79 650 36 446

- Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 6 912 8 954

- Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 6 511 6 746

93 073 52 146

BUSINESS ACQUIRED AS 28 FEBRUARY 2017

- Peninsula Packaging 75 279 22 277

- Plusnet/Geotex 25 431 22 277

- Property letting enterprises 24 806 16 154

- Astrapak Investments 16 815 22 277

142 331 82 985

235 404 135 131
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8. ESTABLISHMENT OF MASTER PLASTICS (CONTINUED)
NO OF PAR VAR ‘000

The following assets and liabilities were acquired by Master Plastics Group as a result of the aforementioned transactions:

2017
R ‘000

Property, plant and equipment 116 986

Inventories 36 326

Trade and other receivables 52 303

Cash and cash equivalents 31 108

Group loans 16 566

Long-term interest-bearing debt (5 974)

Long-term financial liability (15 528)

Taxation payable (265)

Deferred taxation liabilities (22 617)

Trade and other payables (59 731)

Short-term interest-bearing debt (6 843)

Net asset value acquired 142 331

Shares and share claims acquired 31 January 2017 93 073

Shares issued 235 404

Cash acquired 31 108

9. SHARE CAPITAL

2017
R ‘000

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

400 000 000 no par value shares 400 000

ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

135 131 250 no par value shares 

Stated capital 235 404

AT PERIOD-END, THE RATIOS WERE:

Debt (12 817)

Cash and cash equivalents 31 108

Net cash 18 291

Ordinary share capital 235 404

Retained loss (925)

Adjusted capital 234 479

Net cash to adjusted capital (%)      7.8
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10. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH

2017
R ‘000

10.1 LONG-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

SECURED DEBT

Instalment sale agreements (variable rate) 12 817

Total long-term interest-bearing debt secured 12 817

Current portion transferred to short-term interest-bearing debt (6 843)

Net long-term interest-bearing debt 5 974

2017
R ‘000

ANALYSIS OF REPAYMENTS

Repayable: 

Within 1 year 6 843

Between 1 and 2 years 5 508

Between 2 and 3 years 466

Total repayments 12 817

10.2  SHORT-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Current portion of long-term interest-bearing debt 6 843

10.3  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 31 108

10.4  NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Long-term interest-bearing debt 5 974

Short-term interest-bearing debt 6 843

Cash and cash equivalents (31 108)

(18 291)

Long-term and short-term interest-bearing debt represent asset-based finance liabilities which are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. These are designated as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The 

instalment sale agreement and other variable rate loans are secured by the related plant and equipment with net book 

value of R12.8 million. Refer to note 1. The monthly instalment sale agreements bear interest at variable money market 

rates, the majority of which are at prime less 2%, ruling at the rollover dates. Refer to note 24 for details on the movement 

in prime interest rates. Redemption is reviewed and rolled forward. Security is provided by the underlying property, plant 

and equipment.

The Company evaluated numerous capital allocation opportunities during the period under review and has invested to 

achieve an optimal result for ordinary shareholders. The opportunities that were pursued were funded partly by debt and 

partly by cash generated from within the Company. This resulted in net cash of R18.3 million.
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2017
R ‘000

Trade payables 25 418

Inter-group creditors (note 24) 981

Other Payables

- Value Added Taxation 1 713

- Salaries and wages accruals 1 760

- Provision for bonuses 650

- Provision for leave pay 1 882

- Straight-lining of leases 502

- Provision for audit fees 766

- Acquisition of Coralline Investment Proprietary Limited minority 6 224

- Customer receipts in advance 17 200

- Other creditors 5 199

62 295

11. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITY

The long-term financial liability of R15.5 million represents the estimated final payment due to the vendor of Coralline 

Investments Proprietary Limited. This estimated amount was calculated and based on forecasts at the time of the 

transaction in terms of which the minority interest in Coralline Investments Proprietary Limited was acquired by Astrapak 

Investments Proprietary Limited. The transaction occurred prior to the disposal of the business to Master Plastics as part 

of the restructure. The final amount will be settled upon finalisation of the Group audited results for the financial period 

ended 28 February 2019, which is anticipated to be towards the end of May 2019. Accordingly, the amount finally due will 

be calculated based on the agreed valuation formula and the actual results achieved over the financial periods ended 

28 February 2017 to 28 February 2019 and could accordingly vary from the amount of the financial liability currently provided.

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017
R ‘000

Rent income (Group) 272

Inter-group rent represents rent received from Plusnet/Geotex (a division of Master Plastics Limited).

13. REVENUE 

14. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 

Loss from operations has been determined after taking into account the items detailed below:

2017
R ‘000

Salaries and wages (1 467)

Retirement benefit (88)
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15. NET FINANCE COSTS

2017
R ‘000

Finance costs - external 2

16. TAXATION

2017
R ‘000

Deferred taxation 360

RECONCILIATION OF TAXATION RATE

South African normal and effective taxation rate on companies 28.00%

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company purchases financial instruments in order to finance its operations and to manage the interest rate and 

currency risks that arise from normal business operations. In addition, financial balances - for example trade debtors, 

trade creditors and bank balances - arise from normal business operations within the Company.

The Company finances its operations mainly through retained profits, bank facilities, credit borrowings and long-term 

bank loans.

The risk areas the Company is exposed to are credit risk, treasury risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency 

risk. Compliance with the Company’s policy is reviewed at Risk Committee meetings. The policies have remained 

unchanged throughout the period ended 28 February 2017.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s treasury risk is managed through the Risk Committee reporting to the Board. One of the roles of this 

committee is to decide the appropriate philosophy to be adopted within the Company regarding the management of 

treasury risk and for considering and managing the Company’s existing financial market risks by adopting strategies 

within the guidelines set by the Board.

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest rate risk is the possibility that the Company may suffer financial loss if either a fluctuating interest rate or fixed 

interest rate position is entered into or interest rates move adversely.

The Company uses standard market instruments to manage this risk. The risk profile of financial liabilities and assets at the 

balance sheet date is detailed below, which excludes short-term receivables and non-interest-bearing short-term payables:
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17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

FLOATING 
RATE ASSETS

R ‘000

FLOATING 
RATE LIABILITIES

R ‘000

NET 
ASSET
R ‘000

South African Rand 31 108 (12 817) 18 291

Total at 28 February 2017 31 108 (12 817) 18 291

LESS THAN
1 YEAR
R ‘000

BETWEEN
1 AND 2 YEARS

R ‘000

BETWEEN 
2 AND 5 YEARS

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

Trade and other payables 62 295 - - 62 295

Floating rate liability 6 843 5 508 466 12 817

Total 69 138 5 508 466 75 112

Refer to the sensitivity analysis in note 18 for further details.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 

the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 

undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

18. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

INTEREST RATE RISK

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R ‘000

+3% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

-1% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 31 108 933 -

Trade and other receivables 52 506 - -

Interest-bearing debt 12 817 (385) 128

Trade and other payables 62 295 - -

Total impact before tax 548 128

Taxation (153) (36)

Total impact after tax 395 92

The above table is calculated based on the following assumptions:

• Taxation is applied at a flat rate of 28%.
• The impact of each risk in the table above relates only to changes in that risk variable whilst keeping all other variables constant.
• Changes in interest rate risk have been calculated by applying the reasonably possible change identified above to 
 the weighted average prime rate of interest.
• The methods and assumptions are consistent across the years presented unless indicated otherwise.
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19. AMOUNTS OWING BY GROUP COMPANIES

2017
R ‘000

Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 59 828

Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 4 206

Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 12 360

76 394

Loans from Group companies have no repayment terms, are unsecured and do not bear any interest. 

20. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

2017
R ‘000

Loss before taxation (1 285)

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 2

Operating loss before working capital changes (1 283)

Increase in trade and other receivables (200)

Increase in trade and other payables 2 562

2 362

Cash generated from operations 1 079

2017
R ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 31 108
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22. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - 
 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

23. ANALYSIS OF INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

AMORTISED 
COST

R ‘000

NON-FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES
R ‘000

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment - - 117 849

Investments and loans - - 33 244

Amount owing by Group companies - - 76 394

Cash and cash equivalents 31 108 - -

Inventory - - 36 326

Accounts receivable 43 554 - 8 952

Assets classified as held-for-sale - - 214

Total assets 74 662 - 272 979

LIABILITIES

Long-term financial liability - 15 528 -

Long-term interest-bearing debt - 5 974 -

Short-term interest-bearing debt - 6 843 -

Trade and other payables - 25 418 36 877

Deferred taxation liability - - 22 257

Taxation payable - - 265

Total liabilities - 53 763 59 399

ISSUED
SHARE
R ‘000

EFFECTIVE 
PERCENTAGE

SHAREHOLDING
R ‘000

COST OF 
INVESTMENT

R ‘000

Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 1 000 100 19 821

Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 1 100 6 912

Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 1 100 6 512



MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017   |    87

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AMOUNT 
RECEIVABLE

R ‘000

AMOUNT 
PAYABLE

R ‘000

Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited 4 928 98

Astrapak Finance company (a division of Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited) - 883

Astrapak Investments Proprietary Limited 137 -

5 065 981

Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited is a subsidiary of Master Plastics Limited. Astrapak Investments is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Astrapak Limited.

Amounts receivable and payable represent inter-group debtors and creditors.

25. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant to 

an offer from RPC plc, the Board of Directors of Astrapak resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders 

by way of a distribution in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and section 46 of the Income Tax Act. 

The Master Plastics Group has accordingly only been trading for a period of one month during the period being reported 

upon. All Directors’ remuneration was paid by Astrapak Limited prior to the unbundling.

The prescribed officers are the three highest paid employees.

*Basic salary includes leave encashment amount of R575 000 which is non-recurring. 

REMUNERATION

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 

EXPENSE 
SHARE 

OPTIONS
R ‘000

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

M Diedloff 2 787 160 505 3 452 3 751 7 203 140 377 7 720

S Ratlhagane 854 - 155 1 009 144 1 153 - - 1 153

3 641 160 660 4 461 3 895 8 356 140 377 8 873

REMUNERATION

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 
FIXED 

FLEXIBLE
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

EXPENSE IN 
RESPECT OF 
RETENTION 

RELOCATION 
AND RESTRAINT 

OF TRADE
R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS

Officer A 1 340 168 297 1 805 410 2 215 500 2 715

Officer B* 1 769 - 309 2 078 223 2 301 - 2 301

Officer C 906  108 125 1 139  217 1 356 - 1 356

4 015 276 731 5 022 850 5 872 500 6 372
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2017
R ‘000

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EMOLUMENTS

P Langeni 369

PC Botha* 275

GZ Steffens 403

C McDougall 387

TV Mokgatlha 397

1 831

*Paid to Metier Investment and Advisory Services Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries.

26. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

The following subsequent events have occurred between 28 February 2017 and the date of this report:

All resolutions relating to ordinary and preference share schemes proposed by Astrapak Limited pursuant to the offer 

from RPC plc were duly passed on 12 May 2017 and accordingly the listing and unbundling of Master Plastics became 

unconditional and effected on 24 May 2017.

The amount due to the vendor of Coralline Investments Proprietary Limited was settled in full on 17 May 2017. The amount 

of R6.43 million, which included interest of R0.21 million, was settled out of cash resources and in accordance with the 

relevant sale agreement. The amount due was reflected as part of trade and other payables in the Statement of 

Financial Position on 28 February 2017.

Master Plastics declared and paid a dividend of R75 million to Astrapak Limited on 22 May 2017 from its cash resources. 

The relevant resolutions, including these in relation to section 46 (solvency and liquidity) and section 75 (financial interests) 

of the Companies Act, where applicable, were duly passed. The dividend will not impact the ability of Master Plastics to 

deliver on the profit forecast provided in the Pre-listing Statement.

The Group acquired 14 096 018 ordinary shares from the Astrapak Limited Linked Unit Trust Scheme and Astrapak 

Gauteng Proprietary Limited and these acquired shares have subsequently been cancelled on 3 July 2017 reducing the 

issued share capital of the Group from 135 131 250 to 121 035 232 shares.

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial period until the date of 

their report that would require an adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.

27. ANNEXURE 1 - RELATED PARTY COMPANIES

GROUP COMPANIES

• Master Plastics Limited

• Divisions of Master Plastics Limited

 • Plusnet/Geotex

 • Peninsula Packaging

• Barrier Film Convertors Proprietary Limited

• Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited

• Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited

• Astrapak Limited and subsidiaries
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
For the period ended 28 February 2017

The Group was listed and unbundled on 24 May 2017. The Group’s shares were therefore still 100% held by Astrapak Limited 

as at 28 February 2017. On the basis of applying the flow-through principle whereby the ultimate shareholders in Astrapak 

Limited as holding company is deemed to also be the holders of the ordinary shares in the Group at that time, and given 

that the unbundling was based on ordinary shareholders in Astrapak Limited receiving ordinary shares in the Group on 

a one-for-one basis, it is appropriate to assume the shareholders’ analysis of Astrapak Limited to also reflect that of the 

Group at that time. 

  NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS % NUMBER OF 

SHARES %

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

1 - 1 000 shares 274 35.04 108 699 0.08

1 001 - 10 000 shares 235 30.05 1 012 076 0.75

10 001 - 100 000 shares 168 21.48 6 080 079 4.50

100 001 - 1 000 000 shares 82 10.49 25 375 456 18.78

1 000 001 shares and over 23 2.94 102 554 940 75.89

Totals 782 100.00 135 131 250 100.00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Banks/Brokers 10 1.28 1 415 156 1.05

Close Corporations 11 1.41 62 222 0.05

Endowment Funds 10 1.28 465 172 0.34

Individuals 527 67.48 7 397 491 5.47

Insurance Companies 9 1.15 1 374 521 1.02

Investment Companies 2 0.26 290 617 0.22

Medical Schemes 6 0.77 754 802 0.56

Mutual Funds 69 8.83 55 646 499 41.18

Other Corporations 5 0.64 26 060 0.02

Private Companies 20 2.56 917 114 0.68

Private Equity 4 0.51 40 430 479 29.92

Public Company 1 0.13 50 080 0.04

Retirement Funds 64 8.19 11 047 353 8.18

Treasury Stock 2 0.13 14 096 018 10.43

Trusts 42 5.38 1 157 666 0.86

Totals 782 100.00 135 131 250 100.00
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  NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS % NUMBER OF 

SHARES %

PUBLIC/NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

Non-Public Shareholders 11 1.28 55 598 572 41.14

   Directors and Associates of the Company Holdings 5 0.64 1 072 075 0.79

   Treasury Shares (Own Holdings) 2 0.13 14 096 018 10.43

   Strategic Holdings (more than 10%) 4 0.51 40 430 479 29.92

Public Shareholders 771 98.72 79 532 678 58.86

Total 782 100.00 135 131 250 100.00

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 3% OR MORE

Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund 40 430 479 29.92

Coronation Fund Managers 21 708 800 16.06

Astrapak Gauteng Proprietary Limited 12 837 424 9.50

Sanlam 7 305 878 5.41

MMI Holdings Limited 7 293 592 5.40

Element Investment Managers 4 824 707 3.57

Nedbank Group 4 787 325 3.54

Totals     99 188 205 73.40

The Group acquired 14 096 018 ordinary shares from the Astrapak Limited Linked Unit Trust Scheme and Astrapak 

Gauteng Proprietary Limited and these acquired shares have subsequently been cancelled on 3 July 2017 reducing the 

issued share capital of the Company from 135 131 250 to 121 035 232 shares.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES
As at 28 February 2017

 DIRECTOR BENEFICIAL 
DIRECT

NON-BENEFICIAL 
INDIRECT

SHARE-
HOLDING %

Interest in shares at 29 February 2016 and 28 February 2017 533 533 385 40 440 479 30.32

PC Botha(*) - 40 440 479 29.93

M Diedloff 533 385 - 0.39

(*) The shares held by PC Botha are held in his capacity as principal, trustee or Director of a number of entities including 

the Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)



MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017   |    91

At the date of signature of the financial statements the Directors’ interests had changed to the below. The number of 

shares in issue used to calculate the effect shareholding has also been reduced from 135 131 250 to 121 035 232 following 

the repurchase and cancellation of shares by the Company as detailed in this Report:

(*) The shares held by PC Botha are held in his capacity as principal, trustee or Director of a number of entities including 

the Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund.

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

FEBRUARY Financial period end 28 February 2017

MAY

General Meeting held 12 May 2017

Unbundling and Listing on 24 May 2017

Preliminary results announcement for the period ended 28 February 2017 on 26 May 2017

AUGUST Integrated Annual Report published

SEPTEMBER
Annual General Meeting 29 September 2017

Interim results announcement for the period ended 31 August 2017

 DIRECTOR BENEFICIAL 
DIRECT

NON-BENEFICIAL 
INDIRECT

SHARE-
HOLDING %

Interest in shares at date of signature of financial statements 12 103 535 40 440 479 43.41

PC Botha(*) - 40 440 479 33.41

M Diedloff 12 103 535 - 10.00
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NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
For the period ended 28 February 2017

Master Plastics Limited

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Registration Number: 2016/323930/06

JSE share code: MAP

ISIN: ZAE 000242921

(“the Company” or “the Group”)

Notice is hereby given to the shareholders of the 

Company that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of 

the Company will be held at Protea Hotel Fire & Ice, 

situated at Melrose Arch, Sandton, Johannesburg, on 

Friday, 29 September 2017, at 10:00, to deal with such 

business as may lawfully be dealt with at the meeting 

and to consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with or without 

modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out 

hereunder in the manner required by the Companies Act, 

No 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”), as read 

with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“the 

JSE Listings Requirements”).

RECORD DATE

The record date in terms of section 59 of the Companies 

Act for shareholders to be recorded on the securities 

register of the Company in order to be able to attend, 

participate in and vote at the AGM is Friday, 22 September 

2017. Accordingly, the last day for shareholders to trade in 

order to be able to attend, participate in and vote at the 

AGM is Tuesday, 19 September 2017. The record date for 

shareholders to be entitled to receive the notice of AGM 

is Friday, 25 August 2017.

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION

Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the AGM 

by way of a teleconference call, provided that if they 

wish to do so they must notify the Company Secretary in 

writing by email at salomer@masterplasticsgroup.com 

by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 26 September 2017 

stating that they wish to participate in the teleconference 

call and request to be issued with a pin number and dial-

in details for that conference call.

Shareholders or their proxies making use of the 

teleconference call, will not be able to vote during the 

AGM, and the relevant shareholders will still have to 

appoint one or more proxies to vote on their behalf at 

the AGM or attend in person for voting.

Shareholders or their proxies wishing to participate in 

this manner are reminded that they will be separately 

billed by their respective telephone service providers.

IDENTIFICATION

In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any 

person attending or participating (including by way of 

proxy electronic participation) in the AGM must present 

reasonably satisfactory identification and the person 

presiding at the AGM must be reasonably satisfied that 

the right of any person to participate in and vote at 

the AGM (whether as a shareholder or as proxy for a 

shareholder) has been reasonably verified.

A green bar-coded identification document or a bar-

coded identification smart card, issued by the South 

African Department of Home Affairs, a South African 

driving license or a valid passport will be accepted as 

sufficient identification.

VENUE, DATE AND TIME

Please take note that the AGM will be held at the Protea 

Hotel Fire & Ice, situated at Melrose Arch, Sandton, 

Johannesburg, on Friday, 29 September 2017 at 10:00.

AGENDA

1. ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.1 Presentation of audited annual financial statements

The consolidated audited annual financial statements 

(“AFS”) of the Company and its subsidiaries, together 

with the Independent Auditor’s Report, a Report by the 

Company’s Audit Committee and the Directors’ Report 

for the financial period ended 28 February 2017, are 

presented to the shareholders for their consideration.
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1.2 Other ordinary business

Apart from the presentation to the shareholders of the 

AFS and other documents referred to in paragraph 1.1, the 

purpose of this AGM is for the shareholders to:

1.2.1   consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without 

   modification, the special and ordinary resolutions 

   set out in paragraph 2 in accordance with the 

   requirements of the Companies Act and the JSE 

   Listings Requirements; and

1.2.2   consider any and all matters of the Company as may 

   lawfully be dealt with at the AGM of the Company.

2. RESOLUTIONS

2.1 Special resolution number 1:  

 General approval to acquire ordinary shares

Resolved, as a special resolution, that the Company and/or 

any of its subsidiaries from time to time, be and are hereby 

authorised to acquire ordinary shares in the Company 

in terms of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the 

current Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company 

(“MOI”) and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution number 1 is to obtain 

an authority for, and to authorise, the Company and the 

Company’s subsidiaries, by way of a general authority, to 

acquire the Company’s issued ordinary shares.

JSE Listings Requirements

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter 

alia, that:

i. the acquisition of the ordinary shares must be 

 effected through the order book operated by 

 the JSE trading system and done without any prior 

 understanding or arrangement between the 

 Company and the counter party (reported trades 

 are prohibited);

ii. this general authority shall only be valid until the 

 earlier of the Company’s next AGM or the expiry of a 

 period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing 

 of this special resolution;

iii. in determining the price at which the Company’s 

 ordinary shares are acquired in terms of this general 

 authority, the maximum premium at which such 

 ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten 

 percent) of the weighted average of the market value 

 at which such ordinary shares are traded on 

 the JSE, as determined over the 5 (five) business 

 days immediately preceding the date on which the 

 transaction is effected;

iv. at any point in time, the Company may only appoint 

 one agent to effect any acquisition/s on its behalf;

v. the acquisitions of ordinary shares in the aggregate 

 in any one financial period may not exceed 20% (twenty 

 percent) of the Company’s issued ordinary shares;

vi. the Company may only effect the repurchase once 

 a resolution has been passed by the Company’s 

 Board of Directors (“the Board”) confirming that the 

 Board has authorised the repurchase, that the 

 Company and its subsidiaries have passed the 

 solvency and liquidity test set out in section 4 of the 

 Companies Act (“solvency and liquidity test”) and that, 

 since the solvency and liquidity test was done, there 

 have been no material changes to the financial 

 position of any company of the Group;

vii. the Company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase 

 securities during a prohibited period as defined in 

 paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements 

 unless they have in place a repurchase programme 

 where the dates and quantities of securities to be 

 traded during the relevant period are fixed (not 

 subject to any variation) and has been submitted 

 to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of 

 the prohibited period; and

viii. an announcement will be published once the 

 Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three 

 percent) of the number of the ordinary shares in issue 

 at the time this general authority is granted (“initial 

 number”), and for each 3% (three percent) in 

 aggregate of the initial number acquired thereafter.

Disclosure in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the 

JSE Listings Requirements

The JSE Listings Requirements require the following 

disclosure, which is contained in the Company’s 

Integrated Annual Report to which this notice of AGM 

forms part (“the Integrated Annual Report”):
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i. major shareholders of the Company - on pages 89 

 to 90 of the Integrated Annual Report; and

ii. share capital of the Company - on 

 page 46 of the Integrated Annual Report.

Material change

The Board records that, save as set out in the Integrated 

Annual Report, there have been no material changes in 

the affairs or financial position of the Company and its 

subsidiaries since the Company’s financial period-end 

and the date of this notice of AGM.

Directors’ responsibility statement 

The Directors, whose names are given on page 35 of the 

Integrated Annual Report, collectively and individually 

accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the 

information pertaining to special resolution number 1

and certify that to the best of their knowledge and 

belief there are no facts in relation to special resolution 

number 1 that have been omitted which would make any 

statement in relation to special resolution number 1 

false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries 

to ascertain such facts have been made and that 

special resolution number 1 together with this notice 

of AGM contains all information required by law and 

the JSE Listings Requirements in relation to special 

resolution number 1.

Statement of intention

It is the intention of the Directors of the Company to use 

the general authority under special resolution 1 should 

prevailing circumstances (including tax dispensations 

and market conditions) in their opinion warrant it.

Adequacy of working capital

At the time that a repurchase contemplated in terms of 

the general authority under special resolution 1 is to take 

place, the Directors of the Company must ensure that the 

Company has satisfied the solvency and liquidity test in 

accordance with the Companies Act and, in addition, must 

in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements ensure that, 

after considering the effect of the maximum repurchase:

i. the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to, in 

 the ordinary course of business, pay its debts for a 

 period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of this 

 notice of AGM;

ii. the consolidated assets of the Company and 

 its subsidiaries, fairly valued in accordance with 

 International Financial Reporting Standards, will be in 

 excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company 

 and its subsidiaries, fairly valued for a period of 12 

 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of AGM;

iii. the issued share capital and reserves of the Company 

 and its subsidiaries will be adequate for ordinary 

 business purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months 

 after the date of this notice of AGM;

iv. the working capital of the Company and its 

 subsidiaries will be adequate for ordinary business 

 purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the 

 date of this notice of AGM; and

v. a resolution by the Board that it will authorise the 

 repurchase, that the Company and its subsidiaries 

 will have passed the solvency and liquidity test and 

 that, since the test was performed, there have been 

 no material changes to the financial position of the 

 Company and its subsidiaries.

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for special 

resolution number 1 to be adopted is at least 75% of the 

voting rights exercised on this resolution.

2.2 Ordinary resolutions numbers 1.1 to 1.3: 

 Re-election of Directors retiring by rotation

Resolved, as ordinary resolutions, that:

2.2.1 Ordinary resolution number 1.1

Thabo Vincent Mokgatlha, an independent Non-

Executive Director, who retires by rotation in terms of 

the Company’s current MOI and being eligible, who 

offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-

elected as a Director of the Company;
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2.2.2 Ordinary resolution number 1.2

Craig McDougall, an independent Non-Executive Director, 

who retires by rotation in terms of the Company’s 

current MOI and being eligible, who offers himself for re-

election, be and is hereby re-elected as a Director of the 

Company; and

2.2.3 Ordinary resolution number 1.3

Günter Steffens, an independent Non-Executive Director, 

who retires by rotation in terms of the Company’s current 

MOI and being eligible, who offers himself for re-election, 

be and is hereby re-elected as a Director of the Company.

Additional information

The Company’s current MOI provides that one third of 

the Company’s Directors (or if their number is not three 

or a multiple of three, the number nearest to one third, 

but not less than one third) shall retire from office at 

each AGM, provided that if a Director is appointed as an 

Executive Director or as an employee of the Company in 

any other capacity, he or she shall not (i) be subject to 

retirement by rotation; and (ii) be taken into account in 

determining the rotation or retirement of Directors. The 

above mentioned Non-Executive Directors duly retire in 

accordance with the aforementioned provisions of the 

MOI. The above Non-Executive Directors will be re-elected 

by way of separate ordinary resolutions.

An abbreviated curriculum vitae (“CV”) of each of the 

above mentioned individuals appears on pages 11 to 13 

of the Integrated Annual Report.

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for each of 

the ordinary resolutions numbers 1.1 to 1.3 to be adopted 

is more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on 

those resolutions.

2.3 Ordinary resolutions numbers 2.1 to 2.3:  Appointment 

 of the members of the Audit and Risk Committees

Resolved to individually elect the following independent 

Non-Executive Directors (ordinary resolutions 2.1 to 2.3) 

of the Company as members of the Audit and Risk 

Committees until the conclusion of the next AGM. The 

Board recommends the appointment of these members 

and it is resolved, as ordinary resolutions, that:

2.3.1 Ordinary resolution 2.1

the appointment of Thabo Vincent Mokgatlha as a 

member of the Audit and Risk Committees, be and is 

hereby confirmed;

2.3.2 Ordinary resolution 2.2

the appointment of Günter Steffens as a member 

of the Audit and Risk Committees, be and is hereby 

confirmed; and

2.3.3 Ordinary resolution 2.3

the appointment of Craig McDougall as a member of the 

Audit and Risk Committees, be and is hereby confirmed.

Additional information

An abbreviated CV of each of the above mentioned 

individuals appears on pages 11 to 13 of the Integrated 

Annual Report.

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for each 

of the ordinary resolutions numbers 2.1 to 2.3 to 

be adopted is more than 50% of the voting rights 

exercised on those resolutions.
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IMPORTANT NOTES REGARDING 
ATTENDANCE AT THE AGM

1. General

Shareholders wishing to attend the AGM have to ensure 

beforehand that their shares in the Company are in fact 

registered in their name with the transfer secretaries of 

the Company. 

2. Certificated shareholders and “own name” 

 dematerialised shareholders

2.1 Shareholders who have not dematerialised their 

 shares or who have dematerialised their shares with 

 “own name” registration are entitled to attend and 

 vote at the AGM and are entitled to appoint a proxy 

 or proxies to attend, speak and vote in their stead. 

2.2 The person so appointed need not be a shareholder 

 of the Company. The form of proxy attached to 

 this notice of AGM must be dated and signed by the 

 shareholder appointing a proxy and forwarded 

 to reach the Company Secretary (salomer@

 masterplasticsgroup.com) by 10:00 on Wednesday, 

 27 September 2017. Any form of proxy not returned to 

 the Company Secretary by the stipulated time may 

 be handed to the Chairman of the AGM any 

 time before the appointed proxy exercises any of the 

 shareholder rights of the AGM.

2.3 Before a proxy exercises any rights of a shareholder at 

 the AGM, such form of proxy must be so delivered.

3. Dematerialised shareholders other than with 

 “own name” registration

3.1 Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, 

 other than those shareholders who have 

 dematerialised their shares with “own name” 

 registration, should contact their Central Securities 

 Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker in the 

 manner and time stipulated in their agreement:

 3.1.1 to furnish them with their voting instructions; and

 3.1.2 in the event that they wish to attend the AGM, 

   to obtain the necessary authority to do so.

2.4 Ordinary resolution number 3:  

 Approval of Group remuneration policy

Resolved, as an ordinary resolution, that the Group’s 

remuneration policy, as described in the remuneration 

report on pages 21 to 25 of the Integrated Annual Report, 

be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding 

advisory vote, as recommended in King III, in order to 

ascertain the shareholders’ views thereto.

Approval

Failure to pass this resolution will not have legal 

consequences relating to existing arrangements. 

However, the Board will take the outcome of the 

vote into consideration when assessing the Group’s 

remuneration policy.

2.5 Ordinary resolution number 4:  

 Signature of documents

Resolved that each Director of the Company be 

and is hereby individually authorised to sign all 

such documents and do all such things as may be 

necessary for or incidental to the implementation of 

those resolutions to be proposed, considered and 

passed at the AGM.

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for this ordinary 

resolution number 4 to be adopted is more than 50% of 

the voting rights exercised on this resolution.
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4. Voting

Voting will be by way of a poll and every shareholder of 

the Company present, whether in person or represented 

by proxy, shall have one vote for every ordinary share 

held in the Company by such shareholder. Treasury 

shares, shares held by a share trust or scheme, and any 

unlisted securities, will not have their votes taken into 

account for any JSE regulated resolutions.

5. Summary of shareholder rights

5.1 In compliance with the provisions of section 58(8)

 (b)(i) of the Companies Act, a summary of the rights 

 of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as 

 set out in section 58 of the Companies Act, is set out 

 immediately below.

5.2 A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM 

 may appoint any individual (or two or more 

 individuals) as a proxy or as proxies to attend, 

 participate in and vote at the AGM in the place of the 

 shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of 

 the Company.

5.3 A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and 

 signed by the shareholder appointing the proxy, and, 

 subject to the rights of a shareholder to revoke such 

 appointment (as set out below), remains valid only 

 until the end of the AGM.

5.4 A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on 

 behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to 

 any restrictions set out in the instrument appointing 

 the proxy.

5.5 The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time 

 and to the extent that the shareholder who 

 appointed such proxy chooses to act directly and in 

 person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

5.6 The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the 

 shareholder in question by cancelling it in writing, 

 or making a later inconsistent appointment of a 

 proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation 

 instrument to the proxy and to the Company. The 

 revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a 

 complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s 

 authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as 

 of the later of:

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

SALOME RATLHAGANE

Company Secretary

31 August 2017

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

Rosebank Towers

15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank

2196

 5.6.1 the date stated in the revocation instrument, 

   if any; and

 5.6.2 the date on which the revocation instrument 

   is delivered to the Company as required in the 

   first sentence of this paragraph 5.6.

5.7 If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies 

 has been delivered to the Company, as long as that 

 appointment remains in effect, any notice that is 

 required by the Companies Act or the Company’s MOI 

 to be delivered by the Company to the shareholder, 

 must be delivered by the Company to:

 5.7.1 the Ordinary Shareholder; or

 5.7.2 the proxy or proxies, if the Ordinary Shareholder has:

  5.7.2.1 directed the Company to do so in writing; and

  5.7.2.2 paid any reasonable fee charged by the 

    Company for doing so.

6. Notes to the form of proxy

Attention is also drawn to the notes to the form of proxy.



98    |    MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

FORM OF PROXY
For the period ended 28 February 2017

Master Plastics Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration Number: 2016/323930/06
JSE share code: MAP
ISIN: ZAE 000242921
(“the Company” or “the Group”)

This form of proxy is only for use by:
1. registered shareholders of the Company who have not yet dematerialised their shares in the Company; and
2. registered shareholders who have already dematerialised their shares in the Company and are registered 
 in their own names in the Company’s subregister.

For use by registered shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Protea 
Hotel Fire & Ice, Melrose Arch, Sandton, Johannesburg on 29 September 2017 at 10:00 (“the AGM”).

I/We (please print full names)

of (address) (contact number)

being the holder of ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairman of the AGM,

Signed at                             on this                 day of 2017

Signature/s

Assisted by me (where applicable)

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf or to abstain from voting at the meeting or at 
any adjournment thereof, as follows:

Please indicate in the space below how you wish your votes to be cast by inserting the number of ordinary shares in the 
appropriate space.  If you return this form duly signed, without any specific instructions, the proxy shall be entitled to vote 
as he/she thinks fit.

Insert the number of votes exercisable
(one vote per share)

For Against Abstain

Special resolution number 1: General approval to acquire ordinary shares

Ordinary resolution number 1.1: Re-election of Director retiring by rotation -  
Thabo Vincent Mokgatlha

Ordinary resolution number 1.2: Re-election of Director retiring by rotation -  
Craig McDougall

Ordinary resolution number 1.3: Re-election of Director retiring by rotation - 
Günter Steffens

Ordinary resolution number 2.1: Appointment of the members of the 
Audit and Risk Committees - Thabo Vincent Mokgatlha

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: Appointment of the members of the 
Audit and Risk Committees - Günter Steffens

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: Appointment of the members of the 
Audit and Risk Committees - Craig McDougall

Ordinary resolution number 3: Approval of Group remuneration policy

Ordinary resolution number 4: Signature of documents
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Please read the notes to the form of proxy and 
instructions below:

1. Satisfactory identification must be presented by any 
 person wishing to attend the AGM, as set out in the 
 notice of AGM.
2. Every shareholder present in person or by proxy and 
 entitled to vote at the AGM of the Company shall, on 
 a poll, be entitled to one vote in respect of each 
 ordinary share in the Company held by the shareholder.
3. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares in 
 the Company and are registered in their own names 
 are shareholders who appointed Computershare 
 Custodial Services as their CSDP with the express 
 instruction that their uncertificated shares are to be 
 registered in the electronic subregister of 
 shareholders in their own names.
4. Unless revoked, the appointment of proxy in terms 
 of this form of proxy in respect of the AGM shall 
 remain valid until the end of the AGM, even if the 
 AGM or a part thereof is postponed or adjourned, to 
 a date that is 2 (two) months after the date on when 
 it was signed. This form of proxy in respect of the 
 AGM shall not be used at the resumption of the AGM 
 (if adjourned), if it could not have been used at the 
 AGM from which the adjournment took place for any 
 reason other than that it was not lodged timeously 
 for the AGM from which the adjournment took place.
5. This form of proxy in respect of the AGM shall, in 
 addition to the authority granted under the 
 Companies Act, be deemed to confer the power 
 generally to act at the AGM, subject to the specific 
 direction as to the manner of voting in this form 
 of proxy in respect of the AGM or on separate written 
 instructions which accompany this form of proxy 
 in respect of the AGM. A proxy is therefore entitled to 
 exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right 
 of the shareholder without direction, except to the 
 extent that the voting instructions are indicated on 
 the form of proxy in respect of the AGM or on separate 
 written instructions which accompany this form of 
 proxy in respect of the AGM.
6. The Chairman of the AGM may reject or accept any 
 form of proxy in respect of the AGM which is 
 completed and/or received, other than in compliance 
 with these notes and instructions or with the MOI of 
 the Company, provided that the Chairman is 
 satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder 
 wishes to vote.

Instructions on signing and lodging the form of proxy:

1. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the 
 names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s 
 choice in the space/s provided above, with or without 
 deleting “the Chairman of the AGM”, but any such 
 deletion must be initialled by the shareholder. Should 
 this space be left blank, the Chairman of the AGM 
 will exercise the proxy. The person whose name 
 appears first on the form of proxy and who is 
 present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to 
 the exclusion of those whose names follow.
2. A shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy must 
 be indicated by the insertion of the number of votes 
 exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 
 spaces provided. Failure to do so shall be deemed 
 to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from 
 voting at the AGM, as he/she thinks fit in respect of 
 all the shareholder’s exercisable votes. A shareholder 
 or his/her/its proxy is not obliged to use all the votes 
 exercisable by his/her/its proxy, but the total number 
 of votes cast, or those in respect of which abstention 
 is recorded, may not exceed the total number of votes 
 exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her/its proxy.
3. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or 
 guardian unless the relevant documents establishing 
 his/her legal capacity are produced or have been 
 registered by the transfer secretaries.
4. To be valid, the completed form of proxy must be 
 lodged with the transfer secretaries of the Company, 
 Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
 Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
 2196, South Africa, or posted to the transfer secretaries 
 at PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa, 
 to be received by them by not later than 10:00 on 
 Wednesday, 27 September 2017. Any form of proxy not 
 received by this time must be handed to the 
 Chairman of the AGM immediately prior to the AGM.
5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of 
 a person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
 capacity must be attached to this form of proxy 
 unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries 
 or waived by the Chairman of the AGM.
6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall 
 not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
 the AGM and speaking and voting in person thereat 
 to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms 
 hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.
7. The completion of any blank spaces need not be 
 initialed. Any alterations or corrections to this form of 
 proxy must be initialed by the signatory/ies.
8. The Chairman of the AGM may accept any form of 
 proxy which is completed other than in accordance 
 with these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as 
 to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
For the period ended 28 February 2017
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CORPORATE ADVISER AND DESIGNATED ADVISER
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INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS AND AUDITORS
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Cape Quarter
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Green Point, 8005
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